Evidence Brief

Reducing Emergency-department Usage in People with Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Provincial Health Systems in Canada 22 November 2018





EVIDENCE >> **INSIGHT** >> **ACTION**

Evidence Brief: Reducing Emergency-department Usage in People with Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Provincial Health Systems in Canada

22 November 2018

McMaster Health Forum

The McMaster Health Forum's goal is to generate action on the pressing health-system issues of our time, based on the best available research evidence and systematically elicited citizen values and stakeholder insights. We aim to strengthen health systems – locally, nationally, and internationally – and get the right programs, services and drugs to the people who need them.

Authors

Cristina A. Mattison, PhD, Scientific Lead, Stakeholder Engagement and Systems Analysis, McMaster Health Forum

Kaelan A. Moat, PhD, Managing Director, McMaster Health Forum

Eilish M. Scallan, M.Sc., Research Assistant, Evidence Synthesis, McMaster Health Forum

François-Pierre Gauvin, PhD, Senior Scientific Lead, Citizen Engagement and Evidence Curation, McMaster Health Forum

John N. Lavis, MD PhD, Director, McMaster Health Forum, and Professor, McMaster University

Funding

The stakeholder dialogue and the evidence brief that has been prepared to inform it are funded by the IMAGINE SPOR Network which receives funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). The McMaster Health Forum receives both financial and in-kind support from McMaster University. The views expressed in the evidence brief are the views of the authors and should not be taken to represent the views of IMAGINE SPOR Network, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research or McMaster University.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no professional or commercial interests relevant to the evidence brief. The funders played no role in the identification, selection, assessment, synthesis or presentation of the research evidence profiled in the evidence brief.

Merit review

The evidence brief was reviewed by a small number of policymakers, stakeholders and researchers in order to ensure its scientific rigour and system relevance.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Abeera Shahid for assistance with reviewing the research evidence about the elements. We are grateful to Steering Committee members and merit reviewers (David Armstrong, Alecs Chochinov and an anonymous reviewer) for providing feedback on previous drafts of the brief. The views expressed in the evidence brief should not be taken to represent the views of these individuals.

Citation

Mattison CA, Moat KA, Scallan EM, Gauvin FP, Lavis JN. Evidence brief: Reducing emergencydepartment usage in people with inflammatory bowel disease in provincial health systems in Canada. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 22 November 2018.

Product registration numbers

ISSN 1925-2250 (online)

Table of Contents

KEY MESSAGES	5
REPORT	7
THE PROBLEM	9
The number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing	10
Lack of awareness of IBD and its symptoms can hinder timely diagnosis and access to appropriate care	10
Access to timely and appropriate specialty care is uneven	12
Those needing urgent care often resort to emergency departments	13
Additional equity-related observations about the problem	14
Citizens' views about key challenges related to emergency-department use among people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada	15
THREE ELEMENTS OF A POTENTIALLY COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR ADDRESSING THE PROBLEM	18
Citizens' values and preferences related to the three elements	19
Element 1 – Enable self-management of IBD through better supports for patients	20
Element 2 – Strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care	24
Element 3 – Introduce comprehensive alternative-service options for IBD specialty care	28
Additional equity-related observations about the three elements	31
IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS	32
REFERENCES	34
APPENDICES	

KEY MESSAGES

What's the problem?

- Canada has one of the highest rates of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in the world, affecting approximately one in every 150 Canadians, and people with this condition do not always receive the care they need, particularly during flares.
- Given the challenges associated with symptom management and ensuring timely access to specialty care, many individuals with IBD turn to emergency departments for care when other options aren't available.
- Four main themes underpin the challenges related to emergency department usage in people with IBD:
 - the number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing;
 - o lack of awareness of IBD and its symptoms can hinder timely diagnosis and access to appropriate care;
 - o access to timely and appropriate specialty care is uneven; and
 - o those needing urgent care often resort to emergency departments.

What do we know (from systematic reviews) about three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to addressing the problem?

- Element 1 enable self-management of IBD through better supports for patients
 - This element could include: 1) providing educational materials; 2) introducing in-person (personal) support; and 3) making electronic self-management initiatives available.
 - Reviews about this element showed positive impacts for: 1) provision of educational materials (e.g., improved disease-related knowledge, medication adherence, patient and professional engagement); 2) personal support among patients with IBD (e.g., improvements in quality of life and disease activity and reduced health-service utilization); and 3) electronic self-management (e.g., improvement in disease activity, patient-reported quality of life and communication between patients and providers).
- Element 2 strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care
 - This element could include: 1) introducing training and supports for primary care and emergencydepartment professionals; 2) proactively identifying those patients at risk and connecting them to appropriate resources; and 3) integrating electronic supports into the care process.
 - Reviews about this element found that health professionals perceived a number of challenges related to the acceptance of telehealth technologies (e.g., the impact of telehealth integration into services, perceived negative impact of telehealth on staff-patient relationships, low expectations of impact/lack of need and perceived negative impact on staff autonomy and credibility).
- Element 3 introduce comprehensive alternative-service options for IBD specialty care
 - This element could include: 1) providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team; 2) establishing urgent-care clinics focused on supporting gastrointestinal care; and 3) creating clinics focused on patients with multiple chronic conditions.
 - Reviews about this element found that: 1) remote consultations with an IBD care team had a range of benefits (e.g., improved patient quality of life, clinical outcomes, disease activity, disease knowledge, patient empowerment, treatment adherence and decreased clinic visits); and 2) patient-initiated clinics to address multiple chronic conditions improved mental health and disease management, and general health perceptions.

What implementation considerations need to be kept in mind?

- While potential barriers exist at the levels of patients/citizens, providers, organizations and health systems, perhaps the biggest barrier lies in trying to find solutions that will be appropriate across each of the unique health systems in Canada.
- Despite these barriers, many health systems across Canada are at critical junctures, and increasingly looking for ways to achieve the 'triple aim' of improving the patient experience and population health while keeping per capita costs manageable. Addressing emergency-department use among individuals with a chronic condition such as IBD provides a unique opportunity to develop focused solutions that can serve as an exemplar for how health systems can be strengthened to achieve the 'triple aim' more broadly.

REPORT

Canada has one of the highest rates of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in the world, affecting approximately one in every 150 Canadians.(1-3) There is the perception that IBD is not as prevalent as other chronic conditions, however, IBD is more common than multiple sclerosis or Parkinson's disease, and just as common as epilepsy and Type I diabetes.(2; 4; 5)

IBD is made up of a group of inflammatory conditions of the colon and small intestine, with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis as the two main types.(6) Both Crohn's and ulcerative colitis are lifelong, relapsing, conditions that usually begin in early adulthood, with the former typically affecting the lower part of the small bowel and the colon,(7) and the latter affecting the colon only, including the rectum and anus.(8) The symptoms of both conditions are similar, and can include the following (which usually present in an unpredictable and episodic manner): abdominal pain, cramping, rectal bleeding, diarrhea, vomiting, reduced appetite, weight loss, fever, anemia and fatigue.(9) The severity of these symptoms, which is linked with disability (e.g., work-related productivity losses) and stigma associated with the disease, present challenges that can negatively influence an individual's quality of life in general, while limiting their ability to work and engage in intimate relationships more specifically.(2; 10-15)

After initial diagnosis, therapy focuses on symptom management, particularly during a flare, and maintaining remission.(10) Most people living with IBD require ongoing medication and some may end up needing surgery (e.g., repair fistulas, remove obstruction and rectum/colon removal).(2) Individual specialty care is generally led by a gastroenterologist, although given the lack of specialty care in many rural areas gastroenterologists are not always available or accessed by all Canadians with IBD.

In view of the diversity and complexity of symptoms associated with IBD, a number of additional providers may be involved in an IBD care team, including:

- nurses with experience in IBD;
- dietitians with experience in IBD;
- psychologists with a focus on behavioural coping strategies;

Box 1: Background to the evidence brief

This evidence brief mobilizes both global and local research evidence about a problem, three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach for addressing the problem, and key implementation considerations. Whenever possible, the evidence brief summarizes research evidence drawn from systematic reviews of the research literature and occasionally from single research studies. A systematic review is a summary of studies addressing a clearly formulated question that uses systematic and explicit methods to identify, select and appraise research studies, and to synthesize data from the included studies. The evidence brief does not contain recommendations, which would have required the authors of the brief to make judgments based on their personal values and preferences, and which could pre-empt important deliberations about whose values and preferences matter in making such judgments.

The preparation of the evidence brief involved five steps:

- convening a Steering Committee comprised of representatives from the Canadian Society of Intestinal Research, Crohn's and Colitis Canada, Mount Sinai Hospital, University of British Columbia, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg Regional Health Authority and the McMaster Health Forum;
- 2) developing and refining the terms of reference for an evidence brief, particularly the framing of the problem and three viable elements for addressing it, in consultation with the Steering Committee and a number of key informants, and with the aid of several conceptual frameworks that organize thinking about ways to approach the issue;
- identifying, selecting, appraising and synthesizing relevant research evidence about the problem, options and implementation considerations;
- drafting the evidence brief in such a way as to present concisely and in accessible language the global and local research evidence; and
- 5) finalizing the evidence brief based on the input of several merit reviewers.

The three elements could be pursued simultaneously or in a sequenced way, and each element could be given greater or lesser attention relative to the others.

The evidence brief was prepared to inform a stakeholder dialogue at which research evidence is one of many considerations. Participants' views and experiences and the tacit knowledge they bring to the issues at hand are also important inputs to the dialogue. One goal of the stakeholder dialogue is to spark insights – insights that can only come about when all of those who will be involved in or affected by future decisions about the issue can work through it together. A second goal of the stakeholder dialogue is to generate action by those who participate in the dialogue, and by those who review the dialogue summary and the video interviews with dialogue participants.

- primary-care physicians addressing the systemic complications of both the IBD, as well as those that can arise as a result of treatment; and
- social workers who can connect patients with appropriate supports (e.g., community peer support groups and guidance on employment and financial-related issues).

Health-services utilization is highest within the first year of an IBD diagnosis,(16) although there are often delays in diagnosis – and appropriate speciality care – due to lack of awareness of IBD in primary care and emergency departments.(2) Furthermore, the unpredictable nature of symptoms means that even when individuals have been diagnosed and referred to a gastroenterologist, they may be unable to access speciality care when they need it (e.g., after hours and weekends) forcing them to emergency departments for care.

Given the burden of IBD and the many complications associated with its appropriate diagnosis and care, it has been deemed a priority issue in Canada.(17) In tandem with the growing awareness of the need to improve care for those with IBD, the IMAGINE (Inflammation, Microbiome, and Alimentation: Gastro-Intestinal and Neuropsychiatric Effects) Chronic Disease Network was formed in 2017 to study "the interactions between the inflammation, microbiome, diet and mental health in patients with IBD and irritable bowel syndrome."(17) The network, which is an initiative of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and one of the five chronic disease networks in the Strategy for Patient Oriented Research, involves 17 hospitals/universities and 75 researchers from across Canada. The network also engaged the McMaster Health Forum as a partner to consider the best ways to strengthen health systems in Canada.

This evidence brief, and the stakeholder dialogue it was designed to inform, have been developed within this context, and focuses on approaches to reducing emergency department usage in people with IBD in

Box 2: Equity considerations

A problem may disproportionately affect some groups in society. The benefits, harms and costs of the elements to address the problem may vary across groups. Implementation considerations may also vary across groups.

One way to identify groups warranting particular attention is to use "PROGRESS," which is an acronym formed by the first letters of the following eight ways that can be used to describe groups†:

- place of residence (e.g., rural and remote populations);
- race/ethnicity/culture (e.g., First Nations and Inuit populations, immigrant populations and linguistic minority populations);
- occupation or labour-market experiences more generally (e.g., those in "precarious work" arrangements);
- gender;
- religion;
- educational level (e.g., health literacy);
- socio-economic status (e.g., economically disadvantaged populations); and
- social capital/social exclusion.

The evidence brief strives to address all Canadians, but (where possible) it also gives particular attention to two groups:

- people living in rural and remote communities; and
- immigrant populations.

Many other groups warrant serious consideration as well, and a similar approach could be adopted for any of them.

† The PROGRESS framework was developed by Tim Evans and Hilary Brown (Evans T, Brown H. Road traffic crashes: operationalizing equity in the context of health sector reform. *Injury Control and Safety Promotion* 2003;10(1-2): 11–12). It is being tested by the Cochrane Collaboration Health Equity Field as a means of evaluating the impact of interventions on health equity.

provincial health systems in Canada. The evidence brief reviews the research evidence about: 1) features of the problem; 2) three elements (of a potentially comprehensive approach) for addressing the problem; and 3) key implementation considerations for moving any of the elements or their sub-elements forward.

This specific topic was prioritized by members of the IMAGINE Network and the McMaster Health Forum, presenting an issue that can act as a powerful exemplar for government policymakers (e.g., those working in ministries of health) to consider how to systematically deal with issues pertaining to complex single conditions, instead of a one-size-fits-all approach to chronic-disease management. Specifically, in determining how to ensure appropriate, cost-effective services for IBD are available to those who need them, policymakers will have the tools to think through how they can establish nimble health systems that are positioned to develop a range of condition-specific responses when necessary.

THE PROBLEM

Increases in the incidence and prevalence of IBD coupled with the poor management of its symptoms mean that many people across Canada are not currently receiving the supports they need.(10) In addition, the costs to the health system and those borne by the individual living with IBD and by society more generally are also increasing.(2)

The factors underpinning the problem can be broken down into the following four interrelated themes (Figure 1):

- the number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing;
- lack of awareness of IBD and its symptoms can hinder timely diagnosis and access to appropriate care;
- 3) access to timely and appropriate specialty care is uneven; and
- 4) those needing urgent care often resort to emergency departments.

Box 3: Mobilizing research evidence about the problem

The available research evidence about the problem was sought from a range of published and 'grey' research literature sources. Published literature that provided a comparative dimension to an understanding of the problem was sought using three health services research 'hedges' in MedLine, namely those for appropriateness, processes and outcomes of care (which increase the chances of us identifying administrative database studies and community surveys). Published literature that provided insights into alternative ways of framing the problem was sought using a fourth hedge in MedLine, namely the one for qualitative research. Grey literature was sought by reviewing the websites of a number of domestic organizations, such as the Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada, Crohn's and Colitis Canada and the Institute for Clinical and Evaluative Sciences.

Priority was given to research evidence that was published more recently, that was locally applicable (in the sense of having been conducted in Canada), and that took equity considerations into account.

Figure 1. Factors contributing to the challenges related to emergency-department use among people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada



The number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing

The number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing, with the incidence and prevalence of IBD in Canada amongst the highest in the world.(3; 18) Currently, there are approximately 270,000 individuals living with IBD (including 135,000 with Crohn's, 120,000 with ulcerative colitis and 15,000 with IBD but no clear diagnosis).(18) By 2030, it is estimated that 403,000 Canadians will have IBD.(18) As mentioned above, the symptomatic burden placed on individuals with IBD is high, and the unpredictability of these symptoms creates challenges for individuals in terms of planning for their future (e.g., career, travel and relationships), and can reduce their quality of life.(19)

As the number of individuals living with IBD grows, it is likely that there will be corresponding increases in the costs to the health systems providing them with care, and to society more generally.(10) Specifically, the costs associated with IBD in Canada – both direct medical and indirect – were estimated to be \$2.8 billion in 2012 (\$12,000 per patient).(10)

The direct costs – those related to the care provided to patients – include hospital-related costs (e.g., inpatient and emergency-department visits), surgeries, physician services, medication and diagnostics, and were estimated to be \$1.2 billion in Canada in 2012.(2; 10) These were driven by:

- drugs costs (\$521 million);
- hospitalizations (\$395 million);
- physician visits (\$132 million);
- other health-system costs such as emergency-department visits, diagnostics, home care and long-term care (\$101 million); and
- hospital outpatients (\$61 million).(10)

The high direct costs related to pharmaceuticals are attributed to the increased use of biological drugs (e.g., infliximab and adalimumab), making up approximately 84% of total drug expenditures.(10)

The indirect costs - those that fall to the individual or to society more broadly -

were estimated at \$1.6 billion in Canada in 2012.(10) These indirect costs were driven by:

- long-term work losses due to withdrawing from the workforce (\$979 million);
- short-term work losses due to taking time off of work (\$181 million);
- out-of-pocket expenditures such as ostomy supplies, home modifications, home-care supports and complementary and alternative therapies (\$300 million); and
- premature mortality (\$9.4 million).(10)

The many challenges faced by a growing number of Canadians living with IBD and its symptoms, combined with the high direct and indirect costs associated with the condition, suggests there is a need to consider how to provide the most appropriate care for patients in the most efficient manner.

Lack of awareness of IBD and its symptoms can hinder timely diagnosis and access to appropriate care

Unlike many other chronic conditions such as diabetes, Canadians lack awareness of IBD and its symptoms, which creates a challenge in ensuring individuals with IBD are receiving appropriate supports. The lack of awareness is also linked to challenges ensuring those with IBD receive a timely diagnosis and the most appropriate care at the right time.(2)

Although IBD falls under the umbrella of chronic diseases, there are three factors that create barriers to awareness among Canadians: 1) IBD is not preventable; 2) there is general confusion about the differences between irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and IBD; and 3) there is stigma associated with IBD. First, compared

to some other chronic diseases that can be managed and in some cases prevented with the right mix of approaches (e.g., diet and exercise to reduce the likelihood of developing Type 2 diabetes), the prevention of IBD and its symptoms may not be possible regardless of how many proactive measures are taken by individuals (e.g., given the role of genetics and environmental factors).(20) As a result, IBD does not fall under publicly funded chronic-disease prevention programs and services.(2)

Second, there is limited understanding in the general public of the differences between irritable bowel syndrome and IBD. Irritable bowel syndrome is a common gastrointestinal disorder and while not life-threatening does have a range of symptoms (e.g., abdominal pain, irregular bowel patterns and constipation) that can be distressing to the individual.(21) The common misunderstanding and often confusion between IBD and irritable bowel syndrome create further impacts and decreases public awareness of the disease.(2)

Third, there is stigma associated with IBD, which also affects awareness of the disease. People living with IBD face unpredictability and fluctuation of symptoms, often disrupting every day and normal activities.(10; 22) The unpredictability of flares and the variability in symptoms, including severity, may cause challenges for individuals to seek appropriate supports. Symptoms may signal a dangerous progression in the disease, a need for acute medical therapy, surgical intervention or symptom control. In addition, low levels of public awareness can reinforce the stigma associated with the disease. Research on stigma in IBD found that many people with IBD experience perceived stigmatization, and people that have greater frequency of flares also have higher levels of perceived stigma.(13) Perceptions of stigma were found to be a predictor of poorer patient-reported outcomes in IBD patients.(12) Another study found that most participants experienced mild levels of internalized stigma and a quarter reported some form of discrimination due to the disease.(11)

The timeliness of diagnosis or lack thereof is closely tied to the general lack of awareness of IBD. Delayed diagnosis of IBD is a significant challenge.(23) A study conducted in the United States found that diagnostic delays for Crohn's disease was associated with increased complications.(24) The same study found that patients with Crohn's disease experienced longer delays in diagnosis (approximately 10 months) compared to patients with ulcerative colitis (three months).(24) Time to specialist was key and although patients presented to their primary-care provider within a month of the onset of symptoms, it took an additional six months for patients with Crohn's disease to see a specialist, compared with two months for patients with ulcerative colitis.(24) Research on wait times for gastroenterology services in Canada is similar and surpass wait-time benchmarks.(25-27) The most recent survey of gastroenterologists in Canada was completed in 2012 and found that:

- the median wait time to consultation was 92 days (72 days for clinical features indicative of active IBD);
- the wait time to procedure was 55 days (44 days for clinical features indicative of active IBD);
- total wait time was 155 days (126 days for clinical features indicative of active IBD);
- overall the wait times for procedure and consultation, and total wait times were significantly longer than those reported in 2005, but did not differ from the 2008 survey; and
- the wait times for procedure and consultation for clinical features indicative of active IBD were significantly longer than those reported in both the 2005 and 2008 surveys, but not for the total wait times.(27)

Compounding both the awareness challenges and those linked to delayed diagnosis of IBD is a public perception that IBD is not as prevalent as other chronic conditions, despite being more common than multiple sclerosis or Parkinson's disease, and just as common as epilepsy and Type 1 diabetes.(2; 4; 5)

Access to timely and appropriate specialty care is uneven

For individuals with IBD, access to appropriate supports for IBD is not always timely or consistent. This is due to at least three interrelated reasons: 1) challenges related to the treatment for IBD; 2) related to the delivery of specialty care for IBD in both primary and emergency settings; and 3) access to care is affected by the supply, density and distribution of gastroenterologists.

First, there are a number of challenges associated with the treatment of IBD. Before the introduction of biological therapies, corticosteroids and opioids were used to manage the long-term effects of IBD.(28) While corticosteroids have been found to be effective in the induction of remission in both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, they are not effective in maintaining remission.(29) In fact, long-term and/or high-dose users of corticosteroids are at a higher risk for numerous side effects and complications including: impaired glucose tolerance, bone mineral loss and fracture, cataracts and atherosclerosis.(29) Furthermore, opioid analgesics are used for pain management in IBD (e.g., abdominal pain and diarrhea), however, there are significant concerns with side effects and addiction.(30) Heavy opioid use in IBD are associated with a significant risk of mortality.(30) An additional challenge is physician reluctance to prescribe opioids as a result of increased scrutiny by regulatory colleges, which places poorly controlled IBD patients in a difficult position (e.g., poor pain management and no access to effective therapies).(31; 32)

Although biological therapies have emerged as a more effective treatment for IBD, less effective therapies of corticosteroids and opioids are still commonly used. Data from the U.S. suggests that there is still a reliance on corticosteroids and opioids when patients visit outpatient settings to address symptoms related to IBD.(28) In addition, there has been no reduction in their use as biologicals become more available.(28) Data from Canada also show that chronic use of corticosteroids is also high among Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients:

- one study from Manitoba found that within 10 years of being diagnosed, the majority (63%) of patients with IBD will have been prescribed corticosteroids;(29) and
- another study from Manitoba found that higher opioid or corticosteroid use was associated with emergency-department attendance among prevalent IBD cases.(33)

It is important to note that despite challenges associated with the overuse and reliance on corticosteroids, it should be acknowledged that corticosteroids are not the only driver of poor outcomes in IBD patients. One of the Promoting Access and Care through Centres of Excellence (PACE) network centres (University of Alberta and the University of Calgary) are currently addressing the issue through the development and implementation of clinical care pathways for health professionals to reduce the chronic use of corticosteroids.(34)

Second, there are challenges related to the delivery of specialty care for IBD in both primary and emergency settings. While there are a number of factors that may contribute to high corticosteroid use among Crohn's and ulcerative colitis patients in Canada, primary-care teams may have limited training specific to IBD management. Primary-care and emergency physicians are rarely equipped with the range of knowledge and skills they require to address the full scope of IBD patients' needs, which may result in sub-optimal treatment decisions outside of specialty-care settings. In primary-care settings, this may be the result of a lack of emphasis on IBD in family medicine residency programs, or a lack of opportunity for residents to interact with enough IBD patients during their training. Given this gap in knowledge and skills, primary-care physicians may continue to prescribe corticosteroids because this is 'what they know' even though they may not be the best option. This may be one factor (among many) underpinning the prolonged use of corticosteroids for IBD patients in Canada. In emergency departments, this same lack of knowledge and skills related to the management of IBD may also result in investigations and/or treatment decisions that are not always appropriate. An example of this in emergency departments provided by one of the 18 key informants we interviewed in preparing this brief is that given the constellation of symptoms associated with an acute flare, there is a high likelihood that an emergency-department physician will order a CT scan, whereas a provider more familiar with the patient and disease might have deemed it unnecessary. A number of studies

have shown that IBD patients undergo frequent diagnostic imaging, and those with Crohn's disease in particular are exposed to high doses of cumulative radiation.(35-37)

Within specialty-care settings, a primary challenge is the availability of gastroenterologists. Most gastrointestinal clinics run during office hours, and patients may not feel they have access to their gastroenterologist when they need them most. The majority of care for IBD is done by specialists in dedicated clinics, despite many patients being open to a range of other options for managing their illness. A study conducted in Manitoba showed that most of the cases presenting with IBD in the emergency department did not get admitted, suggesting that these patients could be managed in an alternate setting.(38) The study also found that if alternate services were available, a majority of patients with IBD who were surveyed would use phone contact with IBD nurses or gastroenterologists, or attend a walk-in gastroenterology clinic if available when acutely unwell.(38)

Third, an additional access challenge relates to the supply, density and distribution of gastroenterologists. In 2016, it was estimated that there were between 782 and 848 gastroenterologists in Canada (2.14 gastroenterologists per 100,000 population).(39) Of the 10 provinces, six had less than two gastroenterologists per 100,000 population.(39) Data on the distribution, rural versus urban, of gastroenterologists is not available, but based on the primary work settings of the profession (private office/clinic 39% and academic centre 30%) it can be assumed that the majority of gastroenterologists practise in urban centres.(40) The maldistribution of gastroenterologists, IBD nurses and clinics across the country, many of which are located in urban centres, make it difficult for those living in remote and rural areas to see their specialist when needed.

It is important to note that many factors other than the number of gastroenterologists affect patients' wait times for IBD-related services, including the number of endoscopists, availability of tests (e.g., sophistication of laboratory testing in the community) and patient-related factors (e.g., following the necessary preparations for endoscopies and bloodwork). For example, a patient may have access to a gastroenterologist but encounter challenges in accessing an urgent scan, endoscopy or fecal calprotectin test, and may choose to visit an emergency department in order to get faster access to the necessary diagnostic procedures. This challenge has been captured in a vignette in the Government of Manitoba's report of the wait times reduction task force.(41)

Those needing urgent care often resort to emergency departments

As mentioned in the preceding section, the availability of gastroenterologists poses a significant challenge, and due to the unpredictable nature of IBD the limited alternative options leave many seeking care in emergency departments. A population-based study of IBD patients in Ontario in 2014-2015 found that there was significant geographic variation of gastroenterologists by Local Health Integration Network (LHIN), ranging from 1.33 gastroenterologists per 1,000 in the North East LHIN to 10.65 gastroenterologists per 1,000 in the Toronto Central LHIN.(42) The same study found that along with poor access to a gastroenterologist, a diagnosis of Crohn's disease, low neighbourhood income and comorbidity were associated with IBD-related emergency-department visits.(42)

A study conducted in Manitoba of 1,143 individuals in an IBD research registry found that:

- while 61% of patients had a gastroenterologist, when their IBD symptoms were active, only 29% felt as though their specialist was available for an urgent appointment, and only 42% felt as though their specialist was available for a telephone call to discuss their issues;
- emergency departments remain the prominent choice among these patients;
- 9% (or 102 individuals) in the study visited the emergency department in the previous year, while 48% said they would visit if they had severe symptoms;

- higher bowel-symptom severity and higher health anxiety was associated with those who did visit the emergency department; and
- presenting to the emergency department with a primary gastrointestinal complaint is a strong predictor of subsequent hospital admission.(38)

Another study also conducted in Manitoba found that those newly diagnosed with Crohn's disease or those with a history of opioid use were more likely to attend the emergency department.(33) Emergency-department attendance by both incident and prevalent cases of IBD was high. Of the 300 incident cases included in the study, 76% attended the emergency department, and of the 3,394 prevalent cases included, 49% attended the emergency department during the study period.(33) The study also found that visiting a gastroenterologist within the previous year was associated with a lower likelihood of visiting the emergency department.(33)

It is important to recognize that while alternative options are key to appropriately addressing IBD, some patients need emergency care during critical moments in their disease, and emergency departments are the most appropriate setting for this type of care. For example, symptoms of an IBD flare may be indistinguishable from other conditions (e.g., gastroenteritis or ischemia, appendicitis or bowel obstruction) and warrant assessment and care in an emergency department.

There are initiatives that seek to support those with complex chronic conditions. In Ontario, Health Links provides team-based care, across sectors (e.g., home and community care, primary care, specialty care, rehabilitation care, long-term care) in a geographic area working together to provide coordinated healthcare for patients with multiple complex conditions.

Three of the five PACE network centres are focused on how to best serve underserved and remote communities, with specialized IBD care (Toronto), to advance the use of an electronic interface for patients and physicians (Hamilton), and to develop and track quality indicators of care (Montreal).(34)

Additional equity-related observations about the problem

As noted in box 2, an important element of the problem that requires further discussion is how the problem may disproportionately affect certain groups or communities. With respect to reducing emergency-department usage in people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada, many groups warrant attention. Based on feedback from the 18 key informants we interviewed in preparing this brief, we focus on those living in rural or remote communities and immigrant populations.

People living in rural or remote communities often experience difficulties accessing necessary healthcare services, which affects a large number of people living in Canada given that:

- approximately one in five (19%) Canadians live in rural areas (defined by Statistics Canada as those with a population less than 1,000 and with less than 400 persons per square kilometre);(43) and
- there are 292 remote communities in Canada with a total population of approximately 194,281 (remote communities do not have year-round access to roads or they rely on a third party for transportation such as ferry or airplane).(44-46)

Given that health professionals, programs and services are not distributed equitably across geographic areas in Canada, individuals living in rural and remote communities often face barriers to accessing needed healthcare services.(46) Studies have also examined the association between incidence and prevalence of IBD and geographic areas (urban versus rural) and the results have been mixed.(47) Some studies have found that the rates of IBD are higher in urban areas, however, the issue is difficult to address due to data limitations.(48)

Health-services utilization for IBD (including emergency department visits) varies across different groups in the population. A study in Ontario showed that immigrants to Canada are more likely to utilize health services including the emergency department as a result of IBD, although they had a lower risk of surgery.(49) Another study focused more broadly on racial disparities and utilization of specialist care in IBD between black and white populations. The study found that black people were less likely to be under the care of a gastroenterologist and were more likely to visit the emergency department.(50) With regards to treatment, black people were less likely to have been on infliximab, however, no differences were found in the use of immunomodulators.(50)

Citizens' views about key challenges related to emergency-department use among people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada

Two citizen panels – which engaged a total of 23 ethnoculturally and socio-economically diverse citizens who were either diagnosed with IBD or had a family member living with IBD – were convened in Saskatoon (Saskatchewan) on 14 September 2018, and Hamilton (Ontario) on 12 October 2018. The Saskatoon panel consisted of panellists from western provinces (British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba) and the Hamilton panel consisted of panellists from eastern provinces (Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island). Panellists were provided with an abridged version of the evidence brief prior to the citizen panel, which was written in plain language, and served as an input into citizens' deliberations.

During the deliberation about the problem, citizens were asked to share what they perceived to be the main challenges related to reducing emergency-department use among people with IBD. They were also asked to identify any challenges that either they encountered personally, or that a member of their family had encountered with respect to: getting a timely diagnosis, managing their IBD, accessing timely and appropriate specialty care, and accessing urgent care. Panellists identified eight important challenges, which are summarized in detail in Table 1: 1) limited understanding about the causes of IBD; 2) inconsistent and multiple diagnoses; 3) limited access to primary care and care provided by specialists (including an IBD care team); 4) limited understanding about and experience with IBD among health professionals; 5) inadequate facilities and supports available for IBD patients in emergency departments; 6) pervasive stigma associated with IBD at both the individual and societal level; 7) significant costs associated with the sub-optimal management of IBD; and 8) limited access to reliable and trustworthy information sources about IBD.

Challenge	Description
Limited understanding about the causes of IBD	 Most panellists shared concerns about the high prevalence of IBD in Canada and our limited understanding of the factors that cause the condition (ranging from genetics, environmental factors, geographic location). Panellists were concerned that the limited understanding of the factors underpinning the development of IBD reduces the likelihood that it can be managed well.
Inconsistent and multiple diagnoses	 The majority of panellists expressed deep frustration with the process of getting an IBD diagnosis, as well as challenges with multiple misdiagnoses. Some panellists described being dismissed by their primary-care provider when signalling concerning symptoms experienced by themselves during their youth or experienced by their children. Loss of weight and energy should not be dismissed as a normal process of growing up and should be thoroughly investigated. The experiences shared by panellists ranged from misdiagnoses (e.g., gastroenteritis, appendicitis and inconsistent diagnoses between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) to lack of diagnostic certainty (e.g., limitations in endoscopy), all of which led to delays in receiving appropriate care for their condition.

Table	1.	Summarv	of	citizens'	views	about	challenges
I GOIC		Carminary	U 1	entillento	110110	aboat	enancingeo

Challenge	Description
Limited access to	• Many panellists expressed frustrations with the lack of access to both primary care and
primary care and	care provided by specialists.
care provided by	• Within primary care, many panellists discussed challenges in their region in terms of
specialists	primary-care physician shortages. This lack of access to primary-care physicians was
(including an	troublesome since these are the gatekeepers to specialists.
IDD care team)	• Long wait times for referrals to gastroenterologists was cited as a significant barrier, and
	among those panellists with a gastroenterologist, many cited that they did not have timely
	that appointments with their gastroenterologist were booked every six months in order
	to stay on the patient list. However, papellists felt this was an inefficient use of resources
	and not an effective approach given the unpredictable nature of IBD symptoms.
	• Many panellists also expressed concerns with the general shortage of gastroenterologists
	in Canada, but also with the wide regional variations in access to specialist care (including
	gastroenterologist, IBD nurses, as well as surgeons with experience with IBD). For
	example, some panellists from P.E.I. discussed having only one gastroenterologist in
	their province.
	• Within specialty care, the majority of panellists indicated that they have never had access
	to an IBD care team that was similar to the kind described in the pre-circulated citizen
	brief (which included gastroenterologists, IBD nurses, social workers, psychologists and
	others). Some panellists referred to this type of care team as a dream team.
	• when discussing what other professionals should be part of the IDD care team, panellists indicated that pharmacists and surgeons should be included
Limited	All papellists expressed concerns that health professionals had limited understanding and
understanding	experience with IBD (in both primary-care settings and emergency departments). This
about and	was a significant obstacle to timely diagnosis and optimal management of IBD.
experience with	• In elaborating on these concerns, panellists shared experiences with physicians not
IBD among	prescribing treatment options that were best suited to their condition and that aligned
nealth	with the best-available research evidence, and others voiced concerns about the types of
protessionais	dietary advice received by dietitians who are unfamiliar with how to manage flares.
	• Panellists described challenges with triage systems within emergency departments,
	long wait times
	 Papellists also favoured emergency departments over urgent-care centres because many
	had experiences with being referred from urgent-care centres to emergency departments.
	• Stemming from the lack of trust in health professionals and the system more broadly.
	many panellists felt that they need to be their own advocates and have learned by
	experience to tell emergency-department staff the care they need.
Inadequate	• Panellists shared their negative experiences with emergency departments and categorized
facilities and	them in two distinct phases: pre-diagnosis and post-diagnosis.
supports available	• The pre-diagnosis phase was described as a very scary period in which they had repeated
in emergency	visits to the emergency department as a result of the severity of the symptoms (e.g.,
departments	significant weight loss, intense abdominal pain and rectal bleeding). These repeated visits to the emergency department are attributable to the severity of the symptoms, the lack of
1	diagnosis so far to explain those symptoms, the inability of primary-care professionals in
	providing adequate support, and the pain, anxiety and fear experienced by patients.
	• In the post-diagnosis phase, although they are becoming more knowledgeable about their
	condition, panellists shared their frustrations with the inadequate supports provided to
	them by health professionals and many avoided going to the emergency department
	unless they felt critical.

Challenge	Description
	 Panellists gave a number of reasons why they avoid emergency departments and consider them the last resort, including: inappropriate facilities in the waiting room (only one bathroom), long wait times to be admitted and receive the needed interventions (e.g., fluids and pain management), inappropriate interventions (e.g., treatment approaches), and lack of control over diet once admitted. Many panellists indicated that they preferred the comfort and privacy of their own home
	(or bathroom) when experiencing a flare, and that they were often unable to move (and thus unable to go on their own to the emergency department to wait for hours in the hope of receiving care).
Pervasive stigma associated with	• Most panellists experienced stigma associated with IBD. The stigma was perceived at both the individual and societal levels.
individual and societal level	 At the individual level, panellists indicated that the stigma associated with IBD had an impact on their personal, social and professional lives. They were often unable to attend social events and if they did, they often needed special accommodations. Panellists also described challenges with stigma in the workplace and difficulties with maintaining employment. A few panellists had experiences with coworkers questioning their frequent use of the washroom and assumptions that the repeated trips were due to an eating disorder or addiction.
	 Given the nature of IBD symptoms, most people were not comfortable discussing their condition, which often led to social isolation and solitude. Many panellists indicated that they felt on their own. This situation could contribute to depression, anxiety and stress among people living with IBD. At the societal level, panellists felt there was a general lack of public awareness about IBD, which exacerbated the stigma associated with IBD. And given the nature of IBD symptoms, panellists indicated that it would be difficult to find a corporation or spokesperson willing to be associated with a large-scale public awareness campaign about IBD.
Significant costs associated with the sub-optimal management of	 Many panellists were aware that the delivery of care is not optimal for IBD, which leads to high costs for patients and health systems. At the level of the patient, the cost of biological therapies was listed as a significant barrier to managing IBD. Panellists also raised challenges with out-of-pocket costs for
	 food in order to meet dietary restrictions. A few panellists mentioned the need for (and difficulty accessing) financial assistance to help them cope with the costs associated with this lifelong condition. Two panellists mentioned that their health professionals refused to complete the forms allowing them to apply for disability tax credits.
Limited access to reliable and	• The majority of panellists described the lack of trusted information sources about IBD and difficulties in knowing where to look for reliable information.
trustworthy information sources about	• Most were not familiar with existing sources (e.g., Crohn's and Colitis Canada and Gastrointestinal Society's websites, webinars, brochures, etc.), despite their relevance to them.
	• Panellists also described having limited connections with their peers and/or support networks, with the exception of one participant with extensive experience with a local chapter.

THREE ELEMENTS OF A POTENTIALLY COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR ADDRESSING THE PROBLEM

Many approaches could be selected as a starting point for deliberations about an approach for reducing emergencydepartment usage in people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada. To promote discussion about the pros and cons of potentially viable approaches, we have selected three elements of a larger, more comprehensive approach to reducing emergency-department usage among people with IBD. The three elements were developed and refined through consultation with the Steering Committee and key informants who we interviewed during the development of this evidence brief. The elements are:

- 1) enable self-management of IBD through better supports for patients;
- strengthen the role of primary and emergencydepartment care and improve connections to specialty care; and
- 3) introduce comprehensive alternative-service options for IBD specialty care.

The elements could be pursued separately or simultaneously, or components could be drawn from each element to create a new (fourth) element. They are presented separately to foster deliberations about their respective components, the relative importance or priority of each, their interconnectedness and potential of or need for sequencing, and their feasibility.

The principal focus in this section is on what is known about these elements based on findings from systematic reviews. We present the findings from systematic reviews along with an appraisal of whether their methodological quality (using the AMSTAR tool) (9) is high (scores of 8 or higher out of a possible 11), medium (scores of 4-7) or low (scores less than 4) (see the appendix for more details about the quality-appraisal process). We also highlight whether they were conducted recently, which we define as the search being conducted within the last five years. In the next section, the focus turns to the barriers to adopting and implementing these elements, and to possible implementation strategies to address the barriers.

Box 4: Mobilizing research evidence about the elements of a potentially comprehensive approach for addressing the problem

The available research evidence about elements of a potentially comprehensive approach for addressing the problem was sought primarily from Health Systems Evidence (www.healthsystemsevidence.org), which is a continuously updated database containing more than 5,000 systematic reviews and more than 1,500 economic evaluations of delivery, financial and governance arrangements within health systems. The reviews and economic evaluations were identified by searching the database for reviews addressing features of each of the elements of a potentially comprehensive approach.

The authors' conclusions were extracted from the reviews whenever possible. Some reviews contained no studies despite an exhaustive search (i.e., they were 'empty' reviews), while others concluded that there was substantial uncertainty about the elements of a potentially comprehensive approach based on the identified studies. Where relevant, caveats were introduced about these authors' conclusions based on assessments of the reviews' quality, the local applicability of the reviews' findings, equity considerations, and relevance to the issue. (See the appendices for a complete description of these assessments.)

Being aware of what is not known can be as important as being aware of what is known. When faced with an empty review, substantial uncertainty, or concerns about quality and local applicability or lack of attention to equity considerations, primary research could be commissioned, or an element could be pursued and a monitoring and evaluation plan designed as part of its implementation. When faced with a review that was published many years ago, an updating of the review could be commissioned if time allows.

No additional research evidence was sought beyond what was included in the systematic review. Those interested in pursuing a particular element of a potentially comprehensive approach may want to search for a more detailed description of the approach element or for additional research evidence about the element.

Citizens' values and preferences related to the three elements

To inform the citizen panels, we included in the citizen brief the same three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to address the problem as are included in this evidence brief. These elements were used as a jumping-off point for the panel deliberations. During the deliberations we identified several values and preferences from citizens in relation to these elements, which we summarize in Table 2.

Floment	Values expressed	Preferences for how to implement the element
Enchle celf		
Enable self-	• Empowerment of patients to	• Enhance access to reliable and trusted sources of
management of	better manage their IBD	information and tools (e.g., pamphlets in primary-care
IBD through	 Competence of patients to 	clinics and emergency departments, website or 1-800
better supports	manage their IBD	number)
for patients	Appropriateness/convenience	• Create and provide patients with access to a digital or
	of tools that enable self-	physical binder, which would include information on
	management	IBD (including the latest evidence on treatment
	• Trusting relationships between	options) and provide a central place to file diagnostic
	patients, health professionals	results
	and organizations within the	• Establish peer supports and create opportunities for
	system	one-on-one consults with health professionals trained
	• Visibility of IBD	to provide IBD care
	• Visibility of TDD	• Reframe the issue from a focus on bowels to the
		gastrointestinal tract or as an autoimmune disease more
		broadly to help increase the visibility of IBD
Strengthen	Trusting relationships between	Introduce educational programs for now health
primary care	• Itusting relationships between	• Infoduce educational programs for new nearth
and emergency-	patients, nearting professionals	professionals that integrate material focused on IDD,
department	and organizations within the	and create opportunities for continuing education
care of IBD	system	among existing health professionals (particularly to
and improve	Competence of primary-care	improve diagnosis and symptom management, as well
connections to	and emergency-department	as communication skills when communicating sensitive
connections to	professionals	and private information)
specially care		• Connect patients with an IBD nurse or a patient
		navigator (e.g., someone living with IBD available either
		in-person or by telephone) following diagnosis
Introduce	• Fairness/equity	• Introduce remote consultations (e.g., e-mail, telephone
comprehensive	• Collaboration among patients,	or web-based) with an IBD care team as an option for
alternative-	health professionals and	those living in rural and remote communities, or those
service options	organizations within the health	experiencing an IBD flare who may not be physically
for IBD	system	able to attend an in-person consultation
specialty care	• Trusting relationships between	• Introduce mobile diagnostic clinics (similar to breast
	patients and health	cancer screening trailers) to ensure access to IBD
	professionals	diagnostic services in underserved areas
	I	• Create a role for pharmacists on teams involved in the
		management of IBD to support access to up-to-date
		information on treatments and medication counselling
		• Expand paramedics' scope of practice to include
		providing home-based care for pain management
		during a flare
		Introduce clinics forward on supporting the
		Introduce clinics focused on supporting those with
		including IBD), given
		many patients with IBD have more than one chronic
		condition

Table 2. Su	immary of	citizens'	values and	preferences	related to	the three	elements
-------------	-----------	-----------	------------	-------------	------------	-----------	----------

Element 1 - Enable self-management of IBD through better supports for patients

As discussed in the problem section, people with IBD experience difficulty accessing appropriate specialty care, and symptom management is a significant challenge. While the number of Canadians living with IBD is increasing, a general lack of awareness and understanding hinders access to appropriate supports and care. This element aims to highlight a number of efforts to support persons living with IBD improving patients' knowledge and awareness of their condition and improving their self-management skills. Sub-elements could include:

- 1) providing educational materials for persons living with IBD to support self-management;
- 2) introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance their capacity for self-management; and
- 3) making electronic self-management initiatives available, such as the following apps:
 - Gi BodyGuard allows individuals with IBD to track information about their health, symptoms, medications, food and exercise,
 - IBDoc allows for a home test for calprotectin that electronically communicates results to the health professional,
 - MyIBDcoach allows for continuous home monitoring, and
 - healthPROMISE allows for IBD symptom tracking that is linked to a health professional for monitoring.

Key findings from the citizen panels

There were five main values-related themes that emerged during the discussion about element 1 across both panels:

- 1) empowerment (of patients to better manage their IBD);
- 2) competence (of patients to manage their IBD);
- 3) appropriateness/convenience (of tools that enable self-management);
- 4) trusting relationships between patients, health professionals and organizations within the system; and
- 5) visibility of IBD.

The two key values-related themes that emerged with consistency were empowerment and competence. Panellists emphasized the need to be more empowered to manage their IBD. Poor care experiences in primary-care settings and emergency departments made them realize that they better understand than anyone their IBD symptoms, and that they generally have the competence to manage their symptoms. Both empowerment and competence appear to be fundamental in supporting self-management and IBD. To do so, they need access to reliable and trusted sources of information and tools. Preferences for educational materials included pamphlets in primary-care clinics and emergency departments to be used after diagnosis, which cover the basic details of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, as well as information (e.g., website or 1-800 number) for where to access further supports. Many panellists were not familiar with some resources already available.

The third values-related theme focused on the appropriateness and convenience of self-management tools. Panellists had mixed reactions to the use of electronic tools. While some were open to the use of IBD symptom tracking apps, others were concerned that they were onerous and may lack compliance, and had concerns with privacy. Panellists preferred a digital or physical binder, which would include information on IBD (including the latest evidence on treatment options) and provide a central place to file diagnostic results.

In discussing in-person supports, the fourth values-related theme to emerge related to building trusting relationships between patients, health professionals and organizations within the system. Preferences for inperson supports included peer supports and one-on-one consults with health professionals trained to provide IBD care (e.g., consult with an IBD nurse, dietitian or pharmacist), particularly around time of diagnosis, when patients have questions about symptom management (e.g., treatment options and nutrition).

The final values-related theme to emerge was the need for increasing the visibility of IBD and reducing stigma. Panellists discussed that despite the prevalence of IBD, there is a general lack of visibility compared to other less prevalent conditions. Preferences for generating greater public awareness included a reframing of the issue from a focus on bowels to the gastrointestinal tract or autoimmune disease more broadly, and having a high-profile spokesperson living with IBD. Raising the profile of Crohn's and Colitis Canada was also identified as key to building visibility in the general public.

It should be noted that across both panels, the overall emphasis by panellists was on the discussion of element 1. While panellists deliberated on elements 2 and 3, they prioritized element 1 as being key to improving the management of IBD (and hence reducing emergency-department usage). In deliberating about the problem, panellists shared a number of negative experiences with the health system related to IBD, which may explain why panellists generally lacked confidence in primary and emergency-department professionals (element 2) and urgent-care centres (element 3).

Key findings from systematic reviews

We identified 10 systematic reviews that we deemed to be most relevant to these sub-elements.

For the first sub-element, providing educational materials for persons living with IBD to support selfmanagement, we identified three systematic reviews, one recent high quality, one older high quality and one older medium quality, focusing on the effect of education interventions and information provision on selfmanagement among patients with IBD.(51-53) The educational interventions that were assessed in the identified reviews (e.g., web-based information provision and printed patient-education interventions) were generally found to have positive impacts, including increased disease-related knowledge, improved medication adherence, and improved patient and professional engagement.(51-53) One recent high-quality review found that self-management programs centering on education, particularly distance interventions, had a positive impact on health-related quality of life.(54) In contrast to this result, two of the reviews, one older high quality and one older medium quality, found that education interventions resulted in decreased quality of life among patients with IBD.(51; 52) While this may have been attributable to study design, these findings highlight the importance of timely and appropriate information provision.(51; 52)

With regards to the second sub-element, introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance a persons' capacity for self-management, we identified two relevant reviews. Both reviews, one recent high quality and one recent medium quality, found positive evidence for the effect of personal support on self-management capacity among patients with IBD.(55; 56) These benefits included improvements in quality of life, improvements in disease activity and reduced health-service utilization.(55; 56) In addition, one recent high-quality review found that nurse-led self-management interventions for patients with chronic or multimorbid conditions resulted in improved disease outcomes, such as blood pressure control and reductions in HBA1c levels among patients with cardiovascular disease and diabetes.(57) However, the review found mixed results for patient-reported measures and quality of life.(57)

Finally, we found three reviews that addressed the third sub-element, making electronic self-management initiatives available. One recent medium-quality review and one older high-quality review found a range of benefits stemming from the use of electronic self-management tools for patients with IBD, including:

- improvement in disease activity;
- improvement in patient-reported quality of life;
- reduced patient distress; and
- improved communication between patients and providers.(58; 59)

The two reviews focused on web-based interventions and electronic symptom reporting initiatives.(58; 59) Despite evidence from these reviews indicating positive outcomes, another medium-quality review found that there is a paucity of online decision-making resources for patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis.

Reducing Emergency-department Usage in People with Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Provincial Health Systems in Canada

These findings highlight a gap in the shared decision-making process, and points to a need for the development of new decision aids.(60)

We also identified one recent high-quality review and one recent medium-quality review that examined the cost-effectiveness of self-management approaches.(56; 58) Self-management interventions for a range of chronic conditions were found to decrease healthcare utilization by patients.(56) While the effect of interventions on total cost was variable, the authors found that costs typically increased with interventions that reported better health outcomes.(56) Increased costs occasionally resulted from electronic interventions, suggesting that future research on both the direct and indirect costs of technologies on the management of patients with IBD is needed.(58)

Finally, in addition to reviews focusing on costs, we identified one recent, high-quality review that focused on factors that can contribute to the success of self-management interventions. Specifically, collaboration between patients and professionals can contribute to the success of self-management, an important component of IBD care.(53) One recent high-quality review found that organizational change was central to the success of self-management, appropriate training, resource support and evaluation.(53)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 3. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 3 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 1.

Category of finding	Summary of key findings			
Benefits	• Providing educational materials for persons living with IBD to support self-			
	management			
	 One recent high-quality review found that self-management programs had a positive effect on health-related quality of life, with distance interventions having a stronger effects size, and the review noted that education was central to the success of IBD self-management programs.(54) 			
	• Three reviews, two older high and medium quality, and one recent and of high- quality, found the following benefits of educational materials:			
	 increased disease-related knowledge;(51; 52) 			
	 improved medication adherence;(52) and 			
	 improved patient and professional engagement.(53) 			
	• Introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance their capacity for self-			
	management			
	• Two recent reviews, one medium-quality and one high-quality, found the following benefits of personal support for self-management of IBD:			
	 improvement in quality of life;(55) improvement in disease activity;(55) and 			
	■ reduced health-service utilization;(56).			
	 One recent high-quality review found that nurse-led self-management interventions for patients with chronic or multimorbid conditions improved disease management, including blood pressure and HBA1c levels.(57) 			
	Making electronic self-management initiatives available			
	 Two reviews, including one recent medium-quality review and one older high-quality review, found the following benefits of electronic self-management for IBD: improvement in disease activity (58) 			
	 nationt-reported quality of life (58) 			
	 reduced patient distress:(59) and 			
	 improved communication between patients and provider.(59) 			

Table 3: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 1 – Enable selfmanagement of IBD through better supports for patients

Category of finding	Summary of key findings			
Potential harms	Providing educational materials for persons living with IBD to support self-			
	 management One older and high-quality review found that education intervention resulted in decreased quality of life among patients with IBD, highlighting the need for appropriate and timely provision of information.(51) One older and medium-quality review found that quality of life declined among patients with IBD who were provided print education, however, the authors note that this may have been due to chance randomization.(52) 			
Costs and/or cost-	• Introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance their capacity for self-			
effectiveness in	management			
relation to the status quo	 One recent high-quality review examined the effects of self-management interventions on healthcare utilization for patients with a variety of chronic conditions, finding reduced utilization across the majority of studies.(56) The review found the strongest evidence for reduced hospital use was present for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases.(56) While the effect of interventions on cost was variable, costs typically increased with the interventions that reported better health outcomes (56) 			
	Malting alastronia calf management initiatives quailable			
	 Making electronic sen-management initiatives available One recent medium-quality review found that electronic interventions occasionally increased costs, however, the authors noted that future research must aim to encapsulate both the direct and indirect costs of this form of care.(58) 			
Uncertainty regarding	Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified			
benefits and potential	 Not applicable 			
and evaluation could	• Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of a			
be warranted if the	\circ Not applicable – no 'empty reviews' were identified			
option were pursued)	 No clear message from studies included in a systematic review 			
	• Introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance their capacity for self-			
	 One recent and medium-quality review examined the impact of self-management interventions on IBD symptoms, but a lack of consistency among measures limited the authors' ability to draw conclusions.(55) 			
	Making electronic self-management initiatives available			
	 One medium-quality review found a paucity of online decision-making resources for patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis, despite an examination of 25 sources, and the lack of resources suggests a gap in shared decision-making, and the need for new decision aids to be developed.(60) 			
Key elements of the	• Introducing in-person (personal) support to enhance their capacity for self-			
policy option if it was tried elsewhere	 management One recent high-quality review found that a shift in organizational culture is necessary for a consistent and ongoing self-management program, and patients and professionals must embrace similar principles of care.(53) In addition, the review found that organizational change was supported by strong leadership, engagement of professionals, appropriate training, support of resources and ongoing evaluation. (53) 			
Stakeholders' views	Making electronic self-management initiatives available			
and experiences	 One recent medium-quality review found that patient-reported quality of life improved after the use of web-based interventions and the extent of impact depended on a range of factors, potentially including culture, disease sub-type, and baseline quality of life.(58) 			

Element 2 – Strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care

This element aims to strengthen the role of primary care and emergency-department care in the management of IBD, and to enable those with IBD to seek timely appropriate supports from specialty care when necessary. The element may include a number of sub-elements such as:

- introducing training and supports for primary and emergency-department professionals (e.g., by creating an IBD educator certificate, and establishing resource centres, online virtual networks or communities of practice to facilitate the exchange of the best-available research evidence and tacit knowledge about how to support the management of IBD);
- 2) proactively identifying those patients at risk and connecting them to appropriate resources by;
 - improving mechanisms to stratify IBD patients into varying levels of risk for an emergencydepartment visit,
 - o ensuring those at greatest risk receive the necessary primary and specialty care when they need it, and
 - enhancing urgent- and emergency-care triage systems to ensure those who present with IBD symptoms are identified and provided the most appropriate care (e.g., or immediate referral to alternate-care facility); and
- 3) integrating electronic tools (such as the apps listed in element 1) into the care process by linking patient monitoring data to service providers when needed (e.g., linking symptom tracking and home monitoring apps to an IBD care team).

Key findings from the citizen panels

Two main values-related themes emerged during the discussion about element 2 across both panels:

- 1) trusting relationships between patients, health professionals and organizations within the system; and
- 2) competence (of primary-care and emergency-department professionals).

The values-related themes of building trusting relationships and competence of health professionals were intertwined in element 2. In particular, a number of panellists expressed that their lack of trust in the quality of IBD care was directly related to what they flagged as limited competence/expertise to manage IBD patients among primary-care and emergency-department professionals. While some panellists were keen on the idea of introducing educational programs about IBD for new health professionals and continuing education opportunities for existing health professionals (particularly to improve diagnosis and symptom management, as well as communication skills when communicating sensitive and private information), others were skeptical about whether this could improve the competence of primary-care and emergency-department professionals in managing IBD. A number of panellists stated that there was a perception that primary-care and emergency-department professionals were overloaded with work, and building new competencies through education wouldn't address this. However, panellists generally agreed that efforts should be invested to help primary-care and emergency-department professionals in proactively identifying those patients at risk and connecting them to appropriate resources (particularly following a diagnosis). An IBD nurse or a patient navigator (e.g., someone living with IBD available either in-person or by telephone) could be promising to address this need. With regards to integrating electronic tools (such as the apps listed in element 1), while they were supportive of the sub-element, panellists felt they were most likely unsustainable, given the resources required for symptom monitoring by a health professional.

Key findings from systematic reviews

We identified seven systematic reviews that we deemed to be most relevant to these sub-elements.

For the first sub-element, introducing training and supports for primary and emergency-department professionals, we identified three relevant reviews, including two recent medium-quality reviews and one older high-quality review.(61-63) The reviews focused on interventions provided by specialist nurses and the

acceptance of telemedicine and mobile health technologies by patients and professionals, finding that interventions improved quality of life and satisfaction among patients, improved symptom severity and physiological markers, and improved staff engagement.(61-63)

In terms of the second sub-element, proactively identifying patients at risk and connecting them to appropriate resources, one recent medium-quality review examined the value of patient-reported outcome measures for diagnostic support in IBD.(64) These measures are becoming increasingly prevalent in clinical environments and demonstrate strong potential to support disease monitoring.(64) However, the review noted that greater patient involvement is necessary to facilitate content validity and uptake.(64)

We identified two reviews that focused on the importance of proactively identifying patients at risk of disease and connecting them to resources in the primary-care setting. One older high-quality review and one older medium-quality review found that enhancing access to primary care had the following benefits:

- improved medication adherence;(65)
- improved health-related patient behaviours;(65)
- improved health-provider behaviours;(65) and
- increases in use of services and those receiving care.(65; 66)

We identified one recent medium-quality review that evaluated the effectiveness of patient-initiated follow-up care in the secondary outpatient setting, which found that patients who initiated care reported higher satisfaction and quality of life, in addition to fewer hospital visits and an improved ability to manage care.(67)

The utility and effectiveness of a strategy for identifying patients at risk and increasing access to care depends on the type of care and a given country's health system.(66) One older medium-quality review found that for chronic-disease management, financial incentives and practice re-organization were effective tools for increasing access to care. These factors should be taken into consideration when implementing policy.(66)

With regards to the third sub-element, integrating electronic supports into the care process by linking patient monitoring data to service providers when needed, we identified one recent medium-quality review.(63) The review found that health professionals perceived a number of challenges related to the acceptance of telehealth technologies. These barriers included:

- the impact of telehealth integration into services;
- perceived negative impact of telehealth on staff-patient relationships;
- low expectations of impact/lack of need; and
- perceived negative impact on staff autonomy and credibility.(63)

While many challenges related to the acceptance were cited in the review, the quality of technology in terms of its ease of use, reliability and support available were identified as key components contributing to acceptance. (63) The review suggests that including front-line staff in the service design and development involving telehealth technologies may facilitate the change process. (63)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 4. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 4 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 2.

Table 4: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 2 – Strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
Benefits	 Training and supports for primary and emergency-department care professionals Three reviews, including two recent medium-quality reviews and one older high-quality review, found that training and supports for professionals have the following benefits: improved generic and disease-specific quality of life among patients;(61; 62) high patient satisfaction;(62) improved symptom severity and physiological markers;(62) and staff engagement.(63) Proactively identifying patients at risk One recent medium-quality review examined the value of patient-reported outcome measures for diagnostic support in IBD, and found that many measures demonstrate good validity, accuracy, reliability and responsiveness to change.(64) Patient-reported outcome measures have potential to support disease monitoring, but the review notes that greater patient involvement is needed to facilitate content validity and uptake.(64) One older high-quality review and one older medium-quality review, found that proactively identifying patients at risk by furthering access to primary care had the following benefits: improved medication adherence;(65) improved health-related patient behaviours;(65) improved health-related patient behaviours;(65) one recent medium-quality review evaluated the effectiveness of patient-initiated follow-up care in the secondary outpatient setting and found that patients who initiated care reported higher satisfaction and unalty of life.(67)
Potential harms Costs and/or cost- effectiveness in relation to the status	 Training and supports for primary and emergency-department professionals One study included in a recent medium-quality review reported a decrease in quality of life following patient engagement with telemedicine and mobile health technology, however, most studies in this review reported improvements in this measure. (62) One recent medium-quality review found that stakeholders perceive a number of challenges to acceptance of telehealth technologies, such as perceived loss of autonomy and concerns about the staff-patient relationship.(63) No economic evaluations or costing studies were identified that provided information about costs or cost-effectiveness
quo Uncertainty regarding benefits and potential harms (so monitoring and evaluation could be warranted if the option were pursued)	 Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified Not applicable Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of a systematic review Not applicable – no 'empty reviews' were identified Not clear message from studies included in a systematic review Training and supports for primary and emergency-department professionals One older high-quality review examining the impact of specialist-nursing interventions on patients with IBD found positive outcomes among quality of life measures, however, the risk of bias limited the ability to draw conclusions.(61)
policy option if it was tried elsewhere	 Froactively identifying patients at fisk One older medium-quality review examining interventions for furthering access to primary care found that the utility and effectiveness of a strategy for increasing access to primary care depended on the domain of care and the country's health system.(66) For instance, for chronic-disease management, financial incentives and practice reorganization were found to be effective.(66) Countries which already have public primary healthcare such as the United Kingdom

Category of finding	Summary of key findings						
	focused on decreasing wait times to episodic care, while policies in the United States						
	focused on issues such as access to procedures in general.(66)						
Stakeholders' views	• Training and supports for primary and emergency-department professionals						
and experiences	• One recent medium-quality review found that stakeholders perceived a number of						
	challenges to acceptance of telehealth technologies, such as perceived loss of autonomy						
	and concerns about the staff-patient relationship.(63)						
	 The review examined the factors affecting staff acceptance of telehealth technologies, 						
	and identified the following barriers:						
	 the impact of telehealth integration into services; 						
	• perceived negative impact of telehealth on staff-patient relationships;						
	 low expectations of impact/lack of need; and 						
	• perceived negative impact on staff autonomy and credibility.(63)						
	 The review also identified the following facilitators: 						
	• easy-to-use and reliable equipment;						
	 collaboration in service design; 						
	 training and support; 						
	 flexible and responsible services; and 						
	 risk and safety assessments.(63) 						
	• Proactively identifying patients at risk						
	• Patient-reported outcome measures are becoming more prevalent in clinical environments						
	to support monitoring of conditions such as IBD, and there is a need to further engage						
	patients with the development of these measures.(64)						

Element 3 - Introduce comprehensive alternative-service options for IBD specialty care

This element would introduce comprehensive alternative-service options to better manage IBD and reduce unnecessary emergency-department usage. Sub-elements could include:

- 1) providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team and other electronic initiatives to support clinical decisions (e.g., establishing IBD-specific telehealth programs to ensure patients have regular phone contact with an interprofessional care team);
- 2) establishing urgent-care clinics focused on supporting gastrointestinal care, including rapid access to diagnostics; and
- 3) creating 'quick chronic care' clinics or 'multi-resource access centres' that are similar to urgent-care clinics but are focused on patients with multiple chronic conditions who may need to be directed to the right specialist.

Key findings from the citizen panels

There were three main values-related themes that emerged during the discussion about element 3:

- 1) fairness/equity;
- 2) collaboration (among patients, health professionals and organizations within the health system); and
- 3) trusting relationships (between patients and health professionals).

In deliberating on element 3, panellists identified fairness and equity considerations as the first values-related theme that underpinned preferences for comprehensive alternative-services options for IBD. Panellists recognized the challenges to accessing care that individuals living in rural and remote communities often face. As such, remote consultations (e-mail, telephone or web-based) with an IBD care team were preferred not only for those living in rural and remote communities, but also for those experiencing an IBD flare. Panellists discussed their experiences during an IBD flare and described being unable to leave their home to seek care because of their symptoms, which could delay treatment seeking until the condition becomes critical and in need of urgent medical attention (e.g., in need of fluids and pain relief). Panellists identified that remote consultations could provide an opportunity for IBD care and intervention before symptoms require attention in an emergency department. In addition to remote consultations, mobile diagnostic clinics (similar to breast cancer screening trailers) were proposed as a way to bring diagnostic capabilities to those living in underserved areas.

The second values-related theme to emerge during deliberations on element 3 was enhancing collaboration among patients, health professionals and organizations within the health system. Panellists discussed harnessing the full range of health professionals in caring for IBD, and also increasing collaboration across professions. Within the IBD care team, panellists focused on the role of nurse practitioners, pharmacists and paramedics. Given advances in biological therapies, pharmacists could play a significant role in the management of IBD in terms of having up-to-date information on treatments and providing medication counselling. Increasing the scope of paramedics was also viewed by panellists as an option to provide care in the home during a flare. Both pharmacists and paramedics were seen as being well-suited to administering medication during flares and as key to reducing emergency-department usage.

The final values-related theme to emerge during deliberations about the third element was trusting relationships between patients and health professionals. As mentioned in element 1, panellists shared a number of negative care experiences and expressed a general lack of confidence in primary-care and emergency-department professionals. A few panellists had experiences with visiting urgent-care centres during IBD flares, and all were referred to the emergency department. In deliberating on alternative-services options for IBD care, panellists did not think that urgent-care clinics focused on supporting gastrointestinal care was a feasible option. They preferred clinics focused on multiple chronic conditions, given the likelihood of IBD patients having other chronic conditions to deal with.

Key findings from systematic reviews

We identified six systematic reviews that we deemed to be most relevant to these sub-elements.

For the first sub-element, providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team, reviews found a range of benefits to these alternative-service options. We identified five recent reviews, two high quality, two medium quality and one low quality, that reported the following benefits:

- improved patient quality of life;(58; 68-71)
- improved clinical outcomes and disease activity;(58; 68; 70; 71)
- decreased clinic visits;(69)
- improved disease knowledge;(70)
- patient empowerment;(70) and
- treatment adherence.(70; 71)

One study within a recent high-quality review found that adults with IBD who engaged with distance management reported increased relapse rates, however, the review noted that this may have been attributable to variations in the definition of "relapse".(69)

Patient views and experiences were identified as an important component in the success of remote consultations. Two recent high-quality reviews and two recent medium-quality reviews identified improvements in patient-reported quality of life following the use of telemedicine technologies.(58; 68; 69; 71) While these differences were not always statistically significant, the authors noted that any change in quality of life can have a significant impact on the patient.(69) Two recent reviews, one medium quality and one low quality, found that telemonitoring and other electronic technologies were feasible and acceptable to patients, leading to improvements in satisfaction with care.(70; 71)

In terms of cost-effectiveness, we identified one recent high-quality review, two recent medium-quality reviews and one recent low-quality review that reported on the cost-effectiveness of telemedicine interventions.(68; 70; 71) Three of the reviews reported a decrease in costs among patients receiving telemedicine care,(68; 70; 71) and one review observed reduced costs in follow-up care and hospital admission charges.(68) Increases in cost were identified in three reviews, and the increases may have been attributable to travel costs, intervention costs and initial installation costs.(58; 68; 70)

We were unable to find any systematic reviews that directly addressed the second sub-element, establishing urgent-care clinics focused on supporting gastrointestinal care, including rapid access to diagnostics.

With respect to the third sub-element, creating clinics that are similar to urgent-care clinics with a focus on patients with multiple chronic conditions, we identified one relevant recent high-quality review.(72) The review focused on the creation of patient-initiated clinics to address multiple chronic conditions, including breast cancer, IBD and rheumatoid arthritis.(72) The review found that patient-initiated clinics had a range of benefits when compared to traditional consultant-led clinics in secondary care, including improved mental health, general health perceptions, and improved disease management.(72) However, while these improvements were observed at the 12-month mark, some studies demonstrated better outcomes for control groups at 24 months.(72) Among all disease groups examined, the best outcomes were observed when patients had positive relationships with their consultant.(72) Given that positive relationships yielded higher satisfaction among patients, the review suggests that this could be a key focus when implementing policy.(72)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 5. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 5 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 3.

Table 5: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 3 – Introduce comprehensive alternative-service options for IBD specialty care

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
Benefits	• Providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team
	• Five recent reviews, two high quality, two medium quality and one low quality, found
	that remote consultations and distance management using telemedicine have the
	following benefits:
	 improved patient quality of life;(58; 68-71)
	improved clinical outcomes and disease activity;(58; 68; 70; 71)
	decreased clinic visits;(69)
	 improved disease knowledge; (70) patient empower (70) and
	treatment adherence (70: 71)
	 Creating alinics to address multiple abronic conditions
	• One recent high-quality review found that patient-initiated clinics had a range of
	benefits when compared to traditional consultant-led clinics in secondary care
	including improved mental health, general health perceptions and improved disease
	management.(72)
Potential harms	Providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team
	• One study within a recent high-quality review found adults with IBD engaged with
	distance management reported increased relapse rates; however, the authors noted
	that this may have been due to varying definitions of "relapse".(69)
	Creating clinics to address multiple chronic conditions
	• One recent high-quality review reported improved mental health scores and general
	health perceptions among patients with IBD engaged with patient-initiated clinics at
	12 months, however, some studies demonstrated better outcomes for control groups
Costs and/or cost	at 24 months.(/2)
effectiveness in relation	• Providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team
to the status quo	low-quality review reported on the cost-effectiveness of telemedicine
1	interventions.(58; 68; 70; 71)
	 A number of reviews reported a decrease in costs among patients receiving
	telemedicine care,(68; 70; 71) and one review observed reduced costs in follow-up
	care and hospital admission charges.(68)
	• Five studies within a recent high-quality review reported an increase in costs among
	patients using telemedicine, which may have been partially due to travel costs of
	• Electronic interventions were found to occasionally increase healthcare costs (58) and
	the initial cost of telemedicine technology installation may be high (70)
Uncertainty regarding	Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified
benefits and potential	• Establishing urgent-care clinics focused on supporting gastrointestinal care
harms (so monitoring	• Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of a
and evaluation could be	systematic review
warranted if the option	• Not applicable – no 'empty reviews' were identified
were pursued)	• No clear message from studies included in a systematic review
	• Providing opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team
	• While differences in quality of life measures were not statistically significant in one
	recent high-quality review, authors noted that any improvement may be important to
	the patient.(69)
Key elements of the	Creating clinics to address multiple chronic conditions
policy option if it was	• Among all disease groups examined by one recent high-quality review evaluating
uneu eisewitere	patient-initiated clinics, the best outcomes were observed when patients had positive
Stakeholders' views and	Descriding apportunities for reports apportations with an IPD care to an
experiences	 Fromuli opportunities for remote consultations with an IBD care team Two recent high-quality reviews and two recent medium quality reviews identified
1	5 I wo recent men quanty reviews and two recent medium-quanty reviews identified

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
	improvements in patient-reported quality of life following the use of telemedicine technologies. (58; 69; 71)
	 While differences in quality of life measures were not always statistically
	significant, the review noted that any improvement may be important to the patient.(69)
	 Differences in quality of life may depend on a range of factors, including culture, disease sub-type, and baseline quality of life.(58)
	• One recent medium-quality review reported improvements in patient satisfaction, and acceptance of technology, knowledge and adherence were also observed following the use of electronic technologies in the field of gastroenterology.(71)
	• One recent low-quality review found that patients using telemonitoring for IBD found the system to be highly feasible and acceptable; acceptance and satisfaction with this method of care was high among patients.(70)
	Creating clinics to address multiple chronic conditions
	• One recent high-quality review found that individuals engaged with patient-initiated clinics experienced improved mental health and general health perception at 12 months, and reported higher satisfaction if a positive relationship was built with their consultant (72)

Additional equity-related observations about the three elements

None of the systematic reviews identified in relation to the elements included insights about the populations prioritized for equity considerations.

IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS

A number of barriers might hinder implementation of the three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to reducing emergency-department usage in people with IBD in provincial health systems in Canada, which needs to be factored into any decision about whether and how to pursue any given element (Table 6). While potential barriers exist at the levels of patients/citizens, providers, organizations and systems, perhaps the biggest barrier lies in trying to find solutions that will be fit for purpose across each of the unique health systems in Canada. Despite the many common challenges that exist in trying to improve care for individuals with IBD across the country, it's likely the case that all of the elements and sub-elements presented need to be considered in light of the specific health- and political-system contexts that exist within each province and territory.

Levels	Element 1 – Enable self- management of IBD through better supports for patients	Element 2 – Strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care	Element 3 – Introduce comprehensive alternative- service options for IBD specialty care
Patient/citizen	 Patients/citizens may feel uneasy taking a more prominent role in the management of their condition, particularly if recently diagnosed Patients/individuals may not be comfortable using technology such as mobile phone apps 	Patients/citizens may not be comfortable using technology such as mobile phone apps to help link their monitoring data with appropriate care options	 Patients/citizens who have established routines and developed a level of comfort in managing their condition may have challenges adapting to or making the best use of alternative options
Providers	 Providers may feel that they should play a more active leadership role in supporting their patients, particularly when they have recently been diagnosed Providers may view an increasing reliance on electronic tools and self-management efforts as a reduction in their role in the care process Providers with the appropriate knowledge and skills required to provide personal support may be lacking 	 Providers in primary- and emergency-care settings may not have the time or resources to gain additional knowledge about and skills related to IBD Providers may lack access to appropriate diagnostic tools in primary- and emergency-care settings Providers in primary- and emergency-care settings may not have appropriate technical skills or infrastructure to enable them to integrate patient data from electronic supports 	• There may be a shortage of available providers (particularly gastroenterologists and those trained to support individuals with IBD) with the ability to provide care in alternative- service models
Organization	None identified	Organizations may lack the technical capacity or infrastructure to ensure staff and patients have access to the latest diagnostic tools and mechanisms to support better care coordination	Organizations may lack the appropriate staff, technical capacity or infrastructure to shift towards new service models
System	• Remuneration mechanisms for providers may not be appropriately suited to support their role in patient self- management (e.g., by providing incentives for them to provide in- person support, or enable them to self-manage remotely)	 Information privacy and legal challenges may emerge when integrating patient self-monitoring data across providers and settings It isn't clear what appropriate funding and remuneration mechanisms would be required to support organizations and providers to provide coordinated integrated care with data inputs from patients 	• Introducing new types of settings for care delivery (e.g., chronic-care clinics) may require changes to regulatory frameworks that govern how organizations and providers operate, as well as the funding and remuneration mechanisms needed to pay for these new options

Table 6: Potential barriers to implementing the elements

Despite these challenges, many health systems across Canada are at critical junctures, where demographic shifts, rising costs and technological advances combined with changing patient needs and preferences are forcing rapid changes to the status quo. As such, there are a number of windows of opportunity that should be acknowledged (Table 7), since they provide a promising jumping-off point for actively working towards addressing the problems described in this brief.

Туре	Element 1 – Enable self- management of IBD through better supports for patients	Element 2 – Strengthen primary care and emergency-department care of IBD and improve connections to specialty care	Element 3 – Introduce comprehensive alternative- service options for IBD specialty care
General	 Health systems across Canadi improving the patient experi- manageable, and addressing condition such as IBD provi- as an exemplar for how the s- broadly 	la are increasingly looking for way ence and population health while emergency-department use amon ides an opportunity to develop fo system can be strengthened to ach	ys to achieve the 'triple aim' of keeping per capita costs g individuals with a chronic cused solutions that can serve hieve the 'triple aim' more
Element- specific	 There are many chronic conditions (e.g., arthritis and diabetes) for which self-management supports have been introduced, serving as an opportunity to learn from what works There is an increasing emphasis in most health systems on engaging patients in their care 	• Many health systems are actively considering ways to strengthen primary care to reduce the burden on emergency departments, with better chronic-disease management as a focus	• Many health systems are actively considering an array of alternative-service options for select conditions (e.g., diabetes), select treatments (e.g., high-volume low-risk procedures) and populations (e.g., rural and remote patients)

REFERENCES

- IMAGINE Network. Statistics. Toronto: IMAGINE (Inflammation, Microbiome, and Alimentation: Gastro-Intestinal and Neuropsychiatric Effects) Chronic Disease Network; 2018. <u>http://imaginespor.com/imagine-spor-2/</u> (accessed 27 June 2018).
- Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada. The impact of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada. Final report and recommendations. Toronto: Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada; 2008. <u>http://www.crohnsandcolitis.ca/Crohns_and_Colitis/documents/reports/ccfc-ibd-impact-report-2012.pdf</u> (accessed 12 July 2018).
- 3. Ng SC, Shi HY, Hamidi N, et al. Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: A systematic review of population-based studies. *The Lancet* 2017; 390(10114): 2769-2778.
- Statistics Canada. Parkinsonism in Canada, including Parkinson's Disease. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2018. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseasesconditions/parkinsonism.html</u> (accessed 23 July 2018).
- Statistics Canada. Epilepsy in Canada. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2018. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/epilepsy.html</u> (accessed 23 July 2018).
- 6. Baumgart DC, Carding SR. Inflammatory bowel disease: Cause and immunobiology. *Lancet* 2007; 369(9573): 1627-1640.
- 7. Baumgart DC, Sandborn WJ. Crohn's disease. Lancet 2012; 380(9853): 1590-1605.
- 8. Ford AC, Moayyedi P, Hanauer SB. Ulcerative colitis. BMJ 2013; 346(f432).
- 9. Crohn's and Colitis Canada. Signs and symptoms. Toronto: Crohn's and Colitis Canada; 2016. http://crohnsandcolitis.ca/About-Crohn-s-Colitis/Signs-Symptoms (accessed 12 July 2018).
- 10. Rocchi A, Benchimol EI, Bernstein CN, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease: A Canadian burden of illness review. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2012; 26(11): 811-817.
- 11. Taft TH, Ballou S, Keefer L. A preliminary evaluation of internalized stigma and stigma resistance in inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Health Psychology* 2013; 18(4): 451-460.
- 12. Taft TH, Keefer L, Artz C, Bratten J, Jones MP. Perceptions of illness stigma in patients with inflammatory bowel disease and irritable bowel syndrome. *Quality of Life Research* 2011; 20(9): 1391.
- 13. Taft TH, Keefer L, Leonhard C, Nealon-Woods M. Impact of perceived stigma on inflammatory bowel disease patient outcomes. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2009; 15(8): 1224-1232.
- 14. Büsch K, da Silva SA, Holton M, Rabacow FM, Khalili H, Ludvigsson JF. Sick leave and disability pension in inflammatory bowel disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis* 2014; 8(11): 1362-1377.
- 15. van der Have M, Fidder HH, Leenders M, et al. Self-reported disability in patients with inflammatory bowel disease largely determined by disease activity and illness perceptions. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2015; 21(2): 369-377.
- 16. Nguyen GC, Sheng L, Benchimol EI. Health care utilization in elderly onset inflammatory bowel disease: A population-based study. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2015; 21(4): 777-782.
- IMAGINE Network. Who we are. Toronto: IMAGINE (Inflammation, Microbiome, and Alimentation: Gastro-Intestinal and Neuropsychiatric Effects) Chronic Disease Network; 2018. <u>http://imaginespor.com/imagine-spor/</u> (accessed 27 June 2018).

- 18. Kaplan G, Bernstein CN, Coward S, et al. The impact of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada 2018: Epidemiology. (In press). *Journal of the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology* 2018.
- 19. Pittet V, Vaucher C, Froehlich F, et al. Patient self-reported concerns in inflammatory bowel diseases: A gender-specific subjective quality-of-life indicator. *PloS One* 2017; 12(2): e0171864.
- 20. Derkacz A, Olczyk P, K K-V. Diagnostic markers for nonspecific inflammatory bowel diseases. *Disease Markers* 2018; 11: 7451946.
- 21. IMAGINE Network. Irritable bowel syndrome. Toronto: IMAGINE (Inflammation, Microbiome, and Alimentation: Gastro-Intestinal and Neuropsychiatric Effects) Chronic Disease Network; 2018. http://imaginespor.com/what-is-ibs/ (accessed 27 June 2018).
- 22. Dibley L, Norton C, E W. The experience of stigma in inflammatory bowel disease: An interpretive (hermeneutic) phenomenological study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2018; 74(4): 838-851.
- 23. Nahon S, Ramtohul T, Paupard T, Belhassan M, Clair E, V A. Evolution in clinical presentation of inflammatory bowel disease over time at diagnosis: A multicenter cohort study. *European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 2018; 30(10): 1125-1129.
- 24. Nguyen VQ, Jiang D, Hoffman SN, et al. Impact of diagnostic delay and associated factors on clinical outcomes in a U.S. Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cohort. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2017; (10): 1825-1831.
- 25. Armstrong D, Barkun AN, Chen Y, et al. Access to specialist gastroenterology care in Canada: The Practice Audit in Gastroenterology (PAGE) wait times program. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2008; 22(2): 155-160.
- 26. Thind A, Stewart M, Manuel D, et al. What are wait times to see a specialist? An analysis of 26,942 referrals in southwestern Ontario. *Healthcare Policy* 2012; 8(1): 80-91.
- 27. Leddin D, Armstrong D, Borgaonkar M, et al. The 2012 SAGE wait times program: Survey of Access to GastroEnterology in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2013; 27(2): 83-89.
- 28. Narula N, Borges L, Steinhart AH, Colombel J-F. Trends in narcotic and corticosteroid prescriptions in patients with inflammatory bowel disease in the United States ambulatory care setting from 2003 to 2011. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2017; 23(6): 868-874.
- 29. Targownik LE, Nugent Z, Singh H, Bernstein CN. Prevalence of and outcomes associated with corticosteroid prescription in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2014; 20(4): 622-630.
- 30. Targownik LE, Nugent Z, Singh H, Bugden S, Bernstein CN. The prevalence and predictors of opioid use in inflammatory bowel disease: A population-based analysis. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology* 2014; 109(10): 1613.
- 31. De Ruddere L, Craig KD. Understanding stigma and chronic pain: A state-of-the-art review. *Pain* 2016; 157(8): 1607-1610.
- 32. Waddell K, Moat KA, Lavis JN. Dialogue summary: Developing a national pain strategy for Canada. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum; 14 December 2017.
- 33. Nugent Z, Singh H, Targownik LE, Strome T, Snider C, Bernstein CN. Predictors of emergency department use by persons with inflammatory bowel diseases: A population-based study. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2016; 22(12): 2907-2916.
- 34. Crohn's and Colitis Canada. PACE network. Toronto: Crohn's and Colitis Canada; 2016. <u>http://crohnsandcolitis.ca/Research/Our-funded-research/PACE-Network</u> (accessed 02 April 2018).
- 35. Kroeker KI, Lam S, Birchall I, Fedorak RN. Patients with IBD are exposed to high levels of ionizing radiation through CT scan diagnostic imaging: A five-year study. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 2011; 45(1): 34-39.

- 36. Peloquin JM, Pardi DS, Sandborn WJ, et al. Diagnostic ionizing radiation exposure in a populationbased cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology* 2008; 103(8): 2015.
- 37. Yarur AJ, Mandalia AB, Dauer RM, et al. Predictive factors for clinically actionable computed tomography findings in inflammatory bowel disease patients seen in the emergency department with acute gastrointestinal symptoms. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis* 2014; 8(6): 504-512.
- 38. Bernstein MT, Walker JR, Chhibba T, et al. Health care services in IBD: Factors associated with service utilization and preferences for service options for routine and urgent care. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2017; 23(9): 1461-1469.
- 39. Leddin D, A C, C G. Gastroenterology numbers in Canada: A comparison of human resource databases. *Journal of the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology* 2018; 1(2): 87–91.
- 40. Canadian Medical Association. Gastroenterology profile. Ottawa: Canadian Medical Association; 2016. <u>https://www.cma.ca/Assets/assets-library/document/en/advocacy/Gastronenterology-e.pdf</u> (accessed 21 June 2018).
- 41. Minister of Health SaAL. Wait times reduction task force: Final report. Winnepeg: Government of Manitoba; 2017. <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/documents/wtrtf.pdf</u> (accessed 16 August 2018).
- 42. Nguyen GC, Bouchard S, C D, Network PAaCtCoEP. Access to specialists and emergency department visits in inflammatory bowel disease: A population-based study. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis* 2018.
- 43. Statistics Canada. Population, urban and rural, by province and territory (Canada). Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2011. <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/demo62a-eng.htm</u> (accessed 3 February 2017).
- 44. Government of Canada. Status or remote/off-grid communities in Canada. Ottawa: Government of Canada; 2011. <u>https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/sites/www.nrcan.gc.ca/files/canmetenergy/files/pubs/2013-118_en.pdf</u> (accessed 3 February 2017).
- 45. Mattison CA, Lavis JN. Delivery arrangements 2: Workforce. In Lavis JN (editor). Ontario's health system: Key insights for engaged citizens, professionals and policymakers. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum; 2016. p. 175-207.
- 46. Mattison CA, Moat KA, Waddell K, JN L. Evidence brief: Optimizing patient and family transitions from cancer treatment to primary- and community-care supports in Canada. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum; 27 March 2018.
- 47. Frolkis A, Dieleman LA, Barkema HW, et al. Environment and the inflammatory bowel diseases. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2013; 27(3): e18-e24.
- 48. Ng SC, Bernstein CN, Vatn MH, et al. Geographical variability and environmental risk factors in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2013; 62(4): 630-649.
- 49. Benchimol EI, Manuel DG, Mojaverian N, et al. Health services utilization, specialist care, and time to diagnosis with inflammatory bowel disease in immigrants to Ontario, Canada: A population-based cohort study. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2016; 22(10): 2482-2490.
- 50. Nguyen GC, LaVeist TA, Harris ML, Wang M-H, Datta LW, Brant SR. Racial disparities in utilization of specialist care and medications in inflammatory bowel disease. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology* 2010; 105(10): 2202.
- 51. Barlow C, Cooke D, Mulligan K, Beck E, Newman S. A critical review of self-management and educational interventions in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology Nursing* 2010; 33(1): 11-18.
- 52. Harris M, Smith B, Veale A. Printed patient education interventions to facilitate shared management of chronic disease: A literature review. *Internal Medicine Journal* 2005; 35(12): 711-716.

- 53. Taylor SJ, Pinnock H, Epiphaniou E, et al. A rapid synthesis of the evidence on interventions supporting self-management for people with long-term conditions: PRISMS–Practical systematic Review of Self-Management Support for long-term conditions. *Health Services and Delivery Research* 2014; 2(53).
- 54. Tu W, Xu G, Du S. Structure and content components of self-management interventions that improve health-related quality of life in people with inflammatory bowel disease: A systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 2015; 24(19-20): 2695-2709.
- 55. Conley S, Redeker N. A Systematic review of self-management interventions for inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship* 2016; 48(2): 118-127.
- 56. Panagioti M, Richardson G, Small N, et al. Self-management support interventions to reduce health care utilisation without compromising outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Services Research* 2014; 14(1): 356.
- 57. Massimi A, De Vito C, Brufola I, et al. Are community-based nurse-led self-management support interventions effective in chronic patients? Results of a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One* 2017; 12(3): e0173617.
- 58. Jackson BD, Gray K, Knowles SR, De Cruz P. EHealth technologies in inflammatory bowel disease: A systematic review. *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis* 2016; 10(9): 1103-1121.
- 59. Johansen MA, Berntsen GKR, Schuster T, Henriksen E, Horsch A. Electronic symptom reporting between patient and provider for improved health care service quality: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Part 2: Methodological quality and effects. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2012; 14(5): e126.
- 60. Baker DM, Marshall JH, Lee MJ, Jones GL, Brown SR, Lobo AJ. A systematic review of internet decision-making resources for patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2017; 23(8): 1293-1300.
- 61. Belling R, McLaren S, Woods L. Specialist nursing interventions for inflammatory bowel disease. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2009(4): CD006597-CD006597.
- 62. Helsel BC, Williams JE, Lawson K, Liang J, Markowitz J. Telemedicine and mobile health technology are effective in the management of digestive diseases: A systematic review. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 2018;63(6): 1392–1408.
- 63. Brewster L, Mountain G, Wessels B, Kelly C, Hawley M. Factors affecting front line staff acceptance of telehealth technologies: A mixed-method systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2014;70(1): 21-33.
- 64. de Jong MJ, Huibregtse R, Masclee AA, Jonkers DM, Pierik MJ. Patient-reported outcome measures for use in clinical trials and clinical practice in inflammatory bowel diseases-a systematic review. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2018; 16(5): 648-663.
- 65. Smith SM, Soubhi H, Fortin M, Hudon C, O'Dowd T. Interventions for improving outcomes in patients with multimorbidity in primary care and community settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012(4): CD006560.
- 66. Comino EJ, Davies GP, Krastev Y, et al. A systematic review of interventions to enhance access to best practice primary health care for chronic disease management, prevention and episodic care. *BMC Health Services Research* 2012; 12(1): 415.
- 67. Taneja A, Su'a B, Hill A. Efficacy of patient-initiated follow-up clinics in secondary care: A systematic review. *Internal Medicine Journal* 2014; 44(12a): 1156-1160.
- 68. Flodgren G, Rachas A, Farmer A, Inzitari M, Shepperd S. Interactive telemedicine: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. 2015; (9): CD002098.
- 69. Huang VW, Reich KM, Fedorak RN. Distance management of inflammatory bowel disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 2014; 20(3): 829–842.

- 70. Aguas Peris M, Del Hoyo J, Bebia P, et al. Telemedicine in inflammatory bowel disease: Opportunities and approaches. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 2014; 21(2): 392-399.
- 71. Knowles SR, Mikocka-Walus A. Utilization and efficacy of internet-based eHealth technology in gastroenterology: A systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* 2014; 49(4): 387-408.
- 72. Whear R, Abdul-Rahman A-K, Thompson-Coon J, Boddy K, Perry MG, Stein K. Patient initiated clinics for patients with chronic or recurrent conditions managed in secondary care: A systematic review of patient reported outcomes and patient and clinician satisfaction. *BMC Health Services Research* 2013; 13(1): 501.

APPENDICES

The following tables provide detailed information about the systematic reviews identified for each option. Each row in a table corresponds to a particular systematic review and the reviews are organized by element (first column). The focus of the review is described in the second column. Key findings from the review that relate to the option are listed in the third column, while the fourth column records the last year the literature was searched as part of the review.

The fifth column presents a rating of the overall quality of the review. The quality of each review has been assessed using AMSTAR (A MeaSurement Tool to Assess Reviews), which rates overall quality on a scale of 0 to 11, where 11/11 represents a review of the highest quality. It is important to note that the AMSTAR tool was developed to assess reviews focused on clinical interventions, so not all criteria apply to systematic reviews pertaining to delivery, financial, or governance arrangements within health systems. Where the denominator is not 11, an aspect of the tool was considered not relevant by the raters. In comparing ratings, it is therefore important to keep both parts of the score (i.e., the numerator and denominator) in mind. For example, a review that scores 8/8 is generally of comparable quality to a review scoring 11/11; both ratings are considered "high scores." A high score signals that readers of the review can have a high level of confidence in its findings. A low score, on the other hand, does not mean that the review should be discarded, merely that less confidence can be placed in its findings and that the review needs to be examined closely to identify its limitations. (Lewin S, Oxman AD, Lavis JN, Fretheim A. SUPPORT Tools for evidence-informed health Policymaking (STP): 8. Deciding how much confidence to place in a systematic review. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 2009; 7 (Suppl1):S8.

The last three columns convey information about the utility of the review in terms of local applicability, applicability concerning prioritized groups, and issue applicability. The third-from-last column notes the proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada, while the second-from-last column shows the proportion of studies included in the review that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups. The last column indicates the review's issue applicability in terms of the proportion of studies focused on IBD. Similarly, for each economic evaluation and costing study, the last three columns note whether the country focus is Canada, if it deals explicitly with one of the prioritized groups and if it focuses on IBD.

All of the information provided in the appendix tables was taken into account by the evidence brief's authors in compiling Tables 1-3 in the main text of the brief.

A			• • •		F1	Detter		1		C
Ar	openaix I: :	systematic	reviews	relevant to	Element	- Better sup	DOTT I DD	through in	nprovea sei	II-management
	- p						P		-p-0.00.000	

Element	Focus of	Key findings	Year of	AMSTAR	Proportion	Proportion of	Proportion
	systematic		last	(quality)	of studies	studies that deal	of studies
	review		search	rating	that were	explicitly with one	that
					conducted	of the prioritized	focused on
					in Canada	groups	IBD
Selt-	Examining	The review examined 23 studies in order to examine the effectiveness of self-	2007	10/11	6/23	0/23	23/23
management	the	management and educational interventions among patients with IBD. Primary		(AMS1AR			
supports	of solf	outcomes of interest were quality of life, disease activity and symptom reporting,		from			
	management	knowledge		McMaster			
	and	kilowiedge.		Health			
	educational	Of the 16 studies examining quality of life among patients with IBD, three examined		Forum)			
	interventions	self-management interventions, three examined educational interventions, and 10		,			
	among	incorporated self-management approaches. While the majority of studies reported no					
	patients with	significant changes in quality of life among patients, one study reported improvement					
	IBD (51)	in mental health among patients with Crohn's disease at the six-month mark. Further,					
		two studies found that stress management and exercise improved quality of life. While					
		quality of life, this may have been due to a disproportionate increase in disease activity.					
		quality of fire, this may have been due to a disproportionate increase in disease activity.					
		Thirteen studies examined disease activity and symptom reporting, with the majority					
		finding no effect. However, three studies examining self-management and relaxation					
		reported positive effects in the form of fewer symptom relapses, reductions in disease					
		activity, less intense pain, and pain relief. One study found that controls experienced a					
		greater reduction in symptoms among patients who were not engaged with an					
		intervention.					
		While measures of psychological well-being varied between studies, 10 reported					
		improvements on at least one measure. Significant improvements in stress levels,					
		anxiety, disease-related concern, coping, distress related to pain, and general					
		psychological well-being were observed.					
		Six studies examined the impact of interventions on the use of healthcare resources.					
		While two studies found no differences, four studies found that after these					
		faster treatment of relapses were also reported					
		aster treatment of relapses were also reported.					
		Five studies examined changes in disease-related knowledge following intervention,					
		with all reporting significant increases.					
		There is a limited evidence base on the effectiveness of self-management among					
		patients with IBD, as the emphasis is largely on management of chronic disease rather					
		than the control of symptoms. The interventions examined by the studies included in					

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		the review varied widely, with all targeting a component of the disease-management process. While the focus was general, the results indicate that outcomes may be improved if education is given in a timely and appropriate manner.					
	Evaluating the effectiveness of printed patient- education interventions (52)	The review examined seven studies in order to evaluate the effectiveness of printed patient-education interventions among patients with chronic disease. Of the seven studies included in this review, three studies focused on IBD. This review found that evidence for the effectiveness of print interventions is limited, with positive outcomes emerging on few measures. Five interventions scored zero on the quality criteria used by the authors. Given the limitations, it was not possible to draw concrete conclusions from the review. However, there is evidence that current forms of printed patient education are not sufficient for improving health-related quality of life; future research should explore these outcomes in a rigorous manner.	2005	5/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/7	0/7	3/7
	Evaluating the evidence on self- management support for long-term conditions (53)	The rapid synthesis examined 30 qualitative systematic reviews, 102 quantitative systematic reviews, and 61 studies in order to evaluate the evidence on self-management support for long-term conditions. This rapid synthesis focused on a range of chronic diseases, including asthma, diabetes, depression, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic kidney disease, low back pain, stroke and irritable bowel syndrome. A range of self-management support interventions were evaluated, delivered by a range of allied health professionals and sometimes lay educators and mentors. This review found that a shift in organizational culture is necessary for a consistent and ongoing self-management program, so that professionals and patients embrace similar principles of care. The most successful self-management programs included a range of components, including education, psychological training, practical support and social support. A whole-systems approach to implementation is crucial to the success of these interventions, with effective programs being multidisciplinary, engaging patients and professionals, and functioning within a culture of organization that supports self-management.	2012	8/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	0/193	0/193
		appropriate training, support of resources, and ongoing evaluation are necessary to ensure organizational change in support of these interventions.					
	Assessing the effectiveness of self- management	The review examined 15 randomized controlled trials in order to assess the effectiveness of self-management interventions for patients with IBD. This review examined the components of structure and content of self-management interventions using content analysis. Programs varied in structure, ranging in mode of	2014	9/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster	0/13	0/13	13/13

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one	Proportion of studies that
					in Canada	of the prioritized groups	IBD
	interventions for patients with IBD (54)	delivery, material provided, provider, structure, and intensity. Interventions also varied in content, and included information provision, drug management, symptom management, psychological management and lifestyle management. The results indicated that self-management programs had a positive effect on health-related quality of life among patients with IBD, with distance interventions having a stronger effect size.		Health Forum)			
		In terms of structure, distance self-management interventions demonstrated significant strength. The use of internet-based learning should be capitalized on as most newly-diagnosed IBD patients are young people. However, the review noted a paucity of evidence on remote delivery of self-management programs; thus, further research in this area is needed.					
		In terms of content, the review did not find evidence to suggest that specific content components lead to positive effects among patients with IBD. However, the authors note that patient education is central to the success of IBD management, as information provision may improve health-related quality of life.					
		The review found that self-management interventions for patients with IBD had a medium effect on health-related quality of life, with distance management proving successful in this context. Future studies should test the feasibility, acceptability and efficacy of these programs.					
	Evaluating the skills and effect of self- management interventions among adults with IBD (55)	The review examined six studies in order to evaluate the skills and effects of self- management interventions among adults with IBD. Outcomes of interest included self-management skills and health-related outcomes including quality of life, disease activity and symptoms. Self-management is defined by five core skills: problem solving, decision-making, finding and using resources, forming relationships with healthcare professionals and taking action. Only one study encompassed all five of these skills, with decision- making and relationship-forming being the most commonly cited skills among interventions. Most interventions focused on self-management of disease. Future research should emphasize the inclusion of all five self-management skills in order to evaluate positive outcomes and better understand the effects of these skills.	2014	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/6	0/6	6/6
		Studies varied in reports of health-related quality of life. Five interventions used the IBD Questionnaire. Beyond a global score, this scale has four sub-scales: bowel symptoms, systemic symptoms, emotional function and social function. Two studies indicated that self-management resulted in the improvement of global scores, and three interventions found no difference. Two studies also examined generic health-					

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		related quality of life scores with one finding positive effects and one finding no significant change. In terms of disease activity, four interventions found that self-management interventions had a positive effect. One study found no significant difference in disease activity. Three interventions examined the impact of self-management interventions on the symptoms of IBD. Findings varied, with one study of project management demonstrating improvements in bowel and systemic symptoms, one study of personalized self-management and open-access clinics finding no difference in anxiety and depression scores, and one study of a web-based intervention finding that the depression symptoms of the control group improved. There was a general lack of consistency among measures, limiting the authors' ability to draw conclusions. While this review found a number of positive outcomes resulting from self- management interventions, future research must address the importance of symptom					
	Examining the effects of self- management interventions on healthcare utilization for patients with chronic conditions (56)	 management as this is a distressing aspect of IBD. Self-management interventions and supports are increasingly being considered to manage the healthcare utilization burden of chronic diseases. The systematic review aimed to determine the models of self-management and their effect on service utilization as well as health outcomes. The review included 184 randomized controlled trials on adults with chronic conditions who received a self-management intervention in any delivery format (digital, in-person, etc.). Majority of the studies reported reduced utilization and better health outcomes as displayed on a permutation plot. In addition, costs increase with interventions reporting better health outcomes. A meta-analysis produced statistically significant effect sizes above 0.2 for respiratory and cardiovascular conditions, which constitutes a relatively small impact of reduced service utilization, namely hospital use, due to self-management interventions. When reviewers considered the risk of bias in studies, they found that studies with higher risk of bias reported more significant health improvements and reduction in utilization than studies with lower risk of bias. Publication bias was also assessed and was not found to be a concern for health outcomes and cost data, but there was slight bias for hospital-use data. 	2012	8/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	7/184	0/184	0/184

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		Overall, the reviewers found that self-management interventions can be effective to a small extent for reducing hospital use with the strongest evidence present for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases. Reviewers also highlight that it is rare for interventions to have a negative impact on outcomes, and the effects on cost is variable.					
Electronic tools to support self- management	Evaluating the impact of electronic technologies on the management of patients with IBD (58)	The review examined 17 studies in order to evaluate the impact of eHealth technologies on the management of patients with IBD. Results of interest were clinical outcomes and patient-reported outcome measures, effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and feasibility of self-management, and recommendations for future design and use. Electronic interventions were found to have an impact on disease activity, but the authors note that disease sub-type and severity were important factors on activity. The majority of studies focused on patients with ulcerative colitis, which may have had an impact on clinical outcomes as Crohn's disease is more complex. The review found that patient-reported quality of life improved after the use of webbased interventions. The extent of the impact depends on a number of factors, potentially including culture, disease sub-type, and baseline quality of life among patients. The eHealth interventions examined by the studies in this review were found to sometimes increase healthcare costs. Future research must encapsulate both the direct and indirect costs of this form of care. Electronic interventions often rely on self-reported data, therefore feasibility and accuracy are sometimes called into question. However, the review found that while patient knowledge is an important factor in accurate reporting, the strength of qualitative data may overcome these limitations. There is strong evidence to suggest that eHealth interventions have a positive impact on patient behaviour, knowledge, self-management and clinical outcomes. Success relies on adherence, therefore interventions should be designed with this in mind. The authors of this review suggest the development and application of a standardized framework for the design of eHealth solutions. Future research should focus on understanding limitations to design and developing a framework that integrates a range of factors, while keeping patients engaged and involved.	2015	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/17	0/17	17/17
	Assessing the quality of online resources	The review examined 25 sources in order to assess the quality of online resources used by patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis.	Not reported in detail	5/9 (AMSTAR rating from	0/9	0/9	9/9

Element Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
used by patients considering surgery for ulcerative colitis (60)	This review found a paucity of online decision-making resources for patients with ulcerative colitis. The quality of information on selected websites was assessed using a number of validated instruments. Despite recommendations that internet use be utilized alongside shared decision-making, there is a lack of resources. The websites under review did not meet minimum decision-making standards, and do not cover important information for patients such as comparing surgery with ongoing medical treatment. The lack of internet decision-making resources points to an important gap in shared		McMaster Health Forum)			
Reviewing randomized control trials on improving quality of health services through electronic symptom reporting by patients to providers (59)	 decision-making. New content and decision and must be developed to support this process as patients consider surgery for ulcerative colitis. An increased focus on electronic communication between patient and providers is prompting a need to understand the effects on health-service quality. The systematic review focuses on randomized controlled trials evaluating the effects of electronic symptom reporting; this approach has been primarily researched with the following conditions: cancer, respiratory and lung diseases, cardiovascular diseases, psychiatry, and diabetes. In addition, the varying purposes of electronic symptom reporting as categorized by the reviewers include consultation support for physicians, supporting monitoring of symptoms, and self-management for patients. The reviewers included 32 papers with 29 studies, but only drew conclusions from 20 higher-quality studies with a combined total of 3,991 patients, after conducting a quality assessment. The results from 13 of the studies supported their respective hypotheses and reported that electronic symptom reporting was either just as effective or better than the control of standard care. With regards to consultation support, studies highlighted that electronic symptom reporting prior to the clinical visit reduced patient distress, enabled patient-centred conversation, and was associated with better symptom management and health-related quality of life. The visit duration was similar, but communication between the patient and provider was perceived to be enhanced. Two studies focused on asthma supported the use of electronic symptom reporting for monitoring purposes as it improved quality of life and symptoms. There were limited positive outcomes for cardiovascular conditions reported. The reviewers found eight out of nine studies of higher quality on self-management supporting the use of electronic symptom reporting. Improved health outcomes were reported for patients with asthma, chronic obstruct	2011	8/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/32	0/32	0/32

Element	Focus of	Key findings	Year of	AMSTAR	Proportion	Proportion of	Proportion
	systematic		last	(quanty)	of studies	studies that deal	of studies
	review		search	rating	that were	explicitly with one	that
					conducted	of the prioritized	focused on
					in Canada	groups	IBD
		were also reported as self-management improved symptom control in conditions such					
		as asthma.					
		Overall, the reviewers contend that the randomized controlled trials found were of					
		solution of the second se					
		relatively low methodological quanty and ngner-quanty research is needed to					
		recommend the use of electronic symptom reporting more broadly. At the same time,					
		there is some evidence to suggest that electronic symptom reporting may have benefits					
		for self-management and supporting clinical consultations.					

Appendix 2: Systematic reviews relevant to Element 2 - Strengthen the role of primary and emergency-department care and improve connect	ctions
to specialty care	

Element	Focus of	Key findings	Year of	AMSTAR	Proportion of	Proportion of	Proportion
	systematic review		last	(quality)	studies that	studies that deal	of studies
			search	rating	were	explicitly with	that
					conducted in	one of the	focused on
					Canada	prioritized groups	IBD
Training and supports for primary and emergency- department professionals	Examining the impact of specialist-nursing interventions on patients with IBD (61)	 This review examined one randomized controlled trial in order to examine the impact of specialist-nursing interventions on patients with IBD. The primary outcome of interest was the proportion of patients who entered remission. Secondary outcomes included a range of factors such as patient compliance, clinical outcomes, duration of remission, use of medical services, psychosocial outcomes and patient satisfaction. The study under review did not present data on the proportion of patients entering remission. Health-related quality of life was examined following a nurse-led counselling program for patients with IBD, finding positive outcomes six months post-intervention. However, this study had a high risk of bias, and the authors of the review caution against forming conclusions from these results. The review found a striking lack of research in the area of specialist-nurse interventions for patients with IBD. While positive outcomes were seen among measures of health-related quality of life, the risk of bias in the selected study limits conclusions. Future research should assess the impact of these interventions on a range of outcomes. focusing on 	2008	10/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/1	0/1	1/1
	Exploring the effectiveness of telemedicine and mobile health technologies in the management of digestive diseases (62)	 The review examined 20 articles in order to explore the effectiveness of telemedicine and mobile health technologies in the management of digestive diseases. Outcomes of interest were patient compliance, patient satisfaction, disease activity and quality of life. There was a wide range of patient compliance for the telemedicine systems examined by the review. Compliance varied largely based on intervention type, and authors also noted that study power and study design played a key role in the measurements of compliance. Patient satisfaction was high among the studies examined in the review, with the lowest satisfaction measure sitting at 74%. Disease activity varied based on the disease being studied, but results from a number of studies indicated that symptom severity and physiological 	2017	5/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	0/20	12/20

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		biomarkers improved among groups engaged with telemedicine interventions. While half of the studies reported statistically significant findings, the authors note that sample sizes may have compromised statistical power.					
		In terms of quality of life, the studies included in the review largely demonstrated positive outcomes among both generic and disease-specific measures. The IBD quality-of-life questionnaire was commonly cited, with most studies indicating improvements in post-treatment groups. One study reported a decrease in this measure from pre-treatment to post- treatment.					
		The review found positive evidence for the use of telemedicine interventions among patients with digestive diseases. Moving forward, researchers should focus on understudied areas of mobile health technology in order to explore potential benefits to patients.					
	Reviewing qualitative and quantitative research on acceptance of telehealth technologies by nurses (63)	The review examined 10 qualitative, two quantitative and two mixed- method studies to determine factors affecting the acceptance of telehealth technologies by nurses for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure patients. The methods include surveys, focus groups, observations, interviews and document analysis. The idea that staff acceptance of technology plays a critical role in the ability of nurses to deliver quality care was reflected in all studies. However, there are many challenges to acceptance such as a perceived loss of autonomy and potential concerns about the staff-patient relationship as reported by several qualitative studies.	2012	6/0 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/14	0/14	0/14
		The quality of the technology in terms of its ease of use, reliability and support available is identified as a key component contributing to the acceptance. The reviewers suggest that it may be important to include front-line staff in the service design and development involving telehealth technologies to facilitate the change process. The reviewers found limited data on staff acceptance specifically, as many studies were part of larger investigations. Further research is needed to					
		develop concrete solutions to the challenges front-line nurses experience in accepting and integrating telehealth technologies into routine practice.					

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
Proactively identify those patients at risk	Examining the value of patient- reported outcome measures for diagnostic support in IBD (64)	 Patient-reported outcomes (PROMs) are becoming more prevalent in clinical environments to support monitoring of conditions such as IBD. It is important to understand how these measures are designed and provide value to patients. The review examines PROMs created for IBD and considers their utility in supporting disease monitoring by considering content, construct and criterion validity. The reviewers included 17 studies with 20 IBD-related PROMs, largely for adult patients. The PROMs included ones adapted from other clinical conditions and others that were created specifically for IBD. As PROMs are intended to focus on patient perspectives, their input is important during the design process for content validity. Only two articles highlighted that patients' experiences were considered in PROM development, with one conducting qualitative interviews to facilitate the process. Hence, reviewers suggest that there may be a need to further include patients in PROM development. For validating the constructs of PROM instruments, seven studies compared clinician-reported tools and patient-reported ones. They found good agreement for physical symptom-related measures such as blood in stool, but less agreement for items such as urgency, well-being and extra intestinal manifestations. Four of the studies compared PROMs to the gold standard of measuring disease. Further research in this area may allow for the development of PROMs more in line with endoscopic findings. In terms of reliability of using the same instrument over time, several of the PROMs showed strong retest ability when re-administered a week later, or even after two to six weeks. There was good agreement between the scores taken at different time periods. The responsiveness of the test to changes in disease activity varied depending on the PROM. Most PROMs were able to detect if a patient's condition had improved or deteriorated with good confidence as evaluated by the mean paired difference and compared t	2016	5/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/17	0/17	17/17

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		Overall, the reviewers suggest that PROMs need more rigorous evaluation by correlating outcomes with standards such as endoscopy for widespread clinical use. Few studies considering criterion validity demonstrate low-to- moderate ability to detect patients at risk for active disease. More patient involvement is also needed to facilitate content validity and uptake.					
	Evaluating the evidence for interventions in primary and community care for patients with multimorbidity (65)	Multimorbidity is defined as individuals with multiple chronic conditions. The review includes 18 randomized controlled trials with interventions in primary and community care for patients who have multimorbidities. The disease conditions primarily considered in nine studies included depression, diabetes and cardiovascular disease, and the majority of the studies focused on older adults. Interventions in 12 studies centred around case management and collaboration of healthcare professionals to support care delivery. The other six studies focused on direct patient interventions such as educational or self-management tools. The authors considered the impact on clinical, mental health and patient reported outcomes as well as health-service utilization, medical use and adherence, and patient and provider behaviours. They found limited evidence to suggest interventions improved clinical outcomes unless they targeted specific risk factors. The quality of evidence was rated as moderate. Mental health outcomes based on high-quality evidence saw some improvement, especially when targeting depression in a comorbid condition. Four of seven studies had significant effect sizes (above 0.5). Patient-reported outcomes had variable effects with half of reporting studies highlighting positive results with small effect sizes. No effects were demonstrated for health-service utilization, while medication adherence, health-related patient behaviours and provider behaviours saw slight improvements with low- to moderate-quality evidence. Overall, the reviewers highlight that there is limited evidence on the effectiveness of interventions for multimorbidity. Larger trials with well- defined interventions are needed in the future. There is some evidence to suggest that interventions could be effective when targeting specific issues such as depression.	2010	10/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/18	0/18	0/18

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the	Proportion of studies that focused on
	Evaluating the effectiveness of patient-initiated follow-up care in secondary outpatient settings (67)	The review examined six studies evaluating the use of patient-initiated follow-up appointments for outpatient specialist or secondary-care services. The aim of this intervention is to allow patient to direct care while potentially reducing unnecessary follow-up appointments. Three studies on a randomized controlled trial following the same cohort of patients with rheumatoid arthritis over six years found no negative impact associated with patient-initiated follow-up. Instead patients initiating follow-up tended to report higher satisfaction and quality of life and had lower management costs than the control group. The clinical outcomes between the two groups did not differ significantly. Two multi-centre randomized controlled trials focused on patients with IBD by providing the intervention group with self-management training and the option to follow up as needed, while the control received standard care. Both studies reported that the intervention group had fewer hospital visits and outpatient visits as well as an improved ability to manage their care. The health-service-utilization costs were also significantly lower for the intervention group. There was limited difference between quality-of-life and patient-satisfaction measurements in the groups. One randomized study with breast cancer patients also reported no difference in quality of life, and had high rates of satisfaction in both standard care and patient-initiated follow-up groups. In regards to limitations, the authors highlight that studies are limited in generalizability as patient selection and context plays a role. The studies also did not do a full cost-benefit analysis and may not have considered other costs such as keeping a reserve of appointments associated with patient-reported follow-up.	2013	5/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Canada 0/6	0/6	<u>IBD</u> 2/6
	Examining the interventions for furthering access to primary care in areas of prevention.	intervention may work best. The review included 121 studies on interventions furthering access to primary healthcare in areas of prevention, chronic-disease management and episodic care. The included studies were mostly rated as being of medium quality with some being high quality and a few of low quality.	2009	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster	3/121	0/121	0/121

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
	chronic-disease management and episodic care (66)	The primary outcomes considered by these studies included use of services such as attendance to a pap test, follow-up or continuity of care in chronic-disease management and wait times. Strategies used to further access were categorized by the reviewers as: practice-reorganization such as establishing condition-specific clinics, patient support including education and reminder systems, provision of services by extending hours or outreach initiatives, workforce development by supporting training for expanding skills and competencies, and financial incentives for providers. The utility and effectiveness of a strategy for increasing access depended on the given domain and country's health system. For example, financial incentives and practice re-organization were found to be effective for chronic-disease management while patient support and workforce development furthered prevention initiatives. Countries which already have public primary healthcare such as the U.K. focused on decreasing wait times to episodic care while U.S. policy focused on issues such as access to procedures in general. Fifty-two of 75 interventions evaluated resulted in positive outcomes such as statistically significant increases in use of services and those receiving care. Combination of strategies that considered patient demand and provider capacity were demonstrated to be more effective.		Health Forum)			

Aı	ppendix 3: S	vstematio	reviews	relevant to	Element	3 –	Introduce	comprehens	ive al	ternative-	service o	ptions f	or IBD	specialty	v care
	ppendix 5. 0	ystematic		icic vanit t	J Licificiti	5	muouuce	comprenents	nic ai	cernative .		puono r		peciait	y cure

Element	Focus of systematic	Key findings	Year of	AMSTAR	Proportion of	Proportion of	Proportion
	review		last	(quality)	studies that	studies that deal	of studies
			search	rating	were	explicitly with	that
				U	conducted in	one of the	focused on
					Canada	prioritized groups	IBD
Remote	Assessing the	The review examined 93 studies in order to assess the effectiveness,	2013	11/11	Not reported	0/93	0/93
consultations	effectiveness,	acceptability and costs of interactive telemedicine in comparison to		(AMSTAR	in detail		
with an	acceptability and	usual care.		rating from			
inflammatory	costs of interactive			McMaster			
bower care team	telemedicine (08)	conditions including cardiovascular disease diabetes respiratory		Forum)			
		conditions, mental health and conditions requiring a specialist		Poruinj			
		Telemedicine was used for either remote monitoring or real-time					
		videoconferencing.					
		0					
		In terms of health outcomes, studies examining patients with heart					
		failure found a broad range of impact of telemedicine. Hospital					
		admissions ranged from a relative decrease of 64% to an increase of					
		60%, and authors note that this variation may be partially due to the					
		varying severity of disease among participants. Patients engaged with					
		patients with diabetes, there was evidence that clinical outcomes such					
		as blood pressure and cholesterol improved among patients engaged					
		with telemedicine. Patients with mental health or substance abuse					
		problems reported cost savings when engaged with telemedicine, but					
		did not report differences in treatment effects.					
		While the reporting of costs varied widely among studies, a number of					
		studies reported a decrease in cost among patients receiving					
		telemedicine care. Decreased costs were observed in follow-up care					
		and hospital admission charges. Ten studies found no difference in					
		cost between telemedicine groups and usual care groups. Five studies					
		have been partially due to travel costs of healthcare professionals or					
		intervention cost					
		As telemedicine evolves, updated research is essential. The					
		effectiveness of this tool must be assessed in a range of contexts, and					
		future research should build on promising evidence to further develop					
		this field of study.					
	Examining the	The review examined six randomized controlled trials in order to	2013	10/11	0/6	0/6	6/6
	effectiveness of	examine the effectiveness of distance management among adults with		(AMSTAR			
	uistance management	IDD. These studies compared outcomes of distance management and		rating from			

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
	on outcomes among adults with inflammatory bowel disease (69)	standard clinic follow-up care. The primary outcome of interest was the quality of life of patients, with secondary outcomes being relapse rate, the number of clinic visits by a patient in a year and hospital admission rates.		McMaster Health Forum)			
		All studies included in the review demonstrated positive effects of distance management on quality of life among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. While these results were not statistically significant, the authors note that any improvement in quality of life may be important. The improvements on quality of life varied depending on the mode of distance management, with the ulcerative colitis home-management system yielding significantly improved scores. The authors of this review speculate that this improvement may have been due to the interactive nature of this system, or due to the baseline characteristics of participants.					
		There was a decrease in clinic visits by patients across studies. However, telemedicine still requires a time commitment from health professionals. There were conflicting findings on relapse rates, with one study reporting increased relapse rates among patients engaged with distance management, and others reporting insignificant difference between groups. These differences may be due to varying definitions of "relapse". There was no difference in hospital readmission rates between groups.					
		The use of distance management was found to have significant effects on clinic visits, as patients with IBD used these services less. There were no statistically significant impacts on the other outcomes of interest. Future studies should explore the different types of distance management and how these methods can help specific groups of patients.					
	Examining the evidence on telemedicine in the management of patients with IBD (70)	The review examined 16 studies in order to evaluate the evidence on telemedicine in the management of patients with IBD. Most studies examined either tele-monitoring (home systems or online portals) or telecare (real-time phone use and images) as applications of telemedicine. Outcomes of interest included feasibility and acceptance, adherence, quality of life, and patient knowledge.	2014	3/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	0/16	16/16
		In terms of tele-monitoring, one study found that the use of this system among patients with IBD was highly feasible and acceptable. The implementation of a web-based tele-management system was					

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		found to be cost effective in another study, where improvements were also seen in quality of life, disease activity and disease knowledge. Other studies examined the development of tele-consulting systems which bridged the communication gap between patients and healthcare professionals. Acceptance and satisfaction with this method of care was high among patients. Telemedicine demonstrated a range of other benefits, including cost-effectiveness, patient empowerment and treatment adherence. While there are a range of advantages to the implementation of telemedicine, there are a number of barriers as well. Lack of confidence and knowledge pose obstacles, and initial cost of installation may be high. Some systems may pose difficulties to users initially – training must be given to patients. Taken together, tele- monitoring and tele-consulting are highly effective and accepted methods of care among patients, which can be used to monitor disease activity among persons with IBD. Future studies must evaluate efficacy among larger sample sizes, taking financial impact into					
	Evaluating the outcomes of internet- based eHealth technology in the field of gastroenterology (71)	 account. The review examined 17 studies in order to evaluate the outcomes of internet-based eHealth technology in the field of gastroenterology. Two trends in eHealth studies were found by the review: eHealth studies examining gastrointestinal symptoms and mental health; and eHealth studies in disease management. Seven studies examined eHealth interventions in relation to gastrointestinal symptome and one study examining IBD. Among patients with IBS significant improvements in quality of life and symptoms were observed. Among the adolescent IBD group, there were no significant differences between intervention and control groups, with the exception of parent-reported approach on the pain coping questionnaire. Within the intervention group, there was a significant reduction in somatic symptoms. However, the intervention was still found to be beneficial. Eight studies examined eHealth interventions targeting disease management, with seven studies examined a range of disease activity, 	2013	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/17	0/17	8/17

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on IBD
		treatment adherence, diet adherence and overall management. In two studies, the intervention group had significantly improved disease knowledge and compliance with both treatment and diet. Participants reported satisfaction, acceptance of eHealth, improved quality of life, knowledge, adherence and reduced costs.					
		The findings of the review indicate that eHealth may be a potentially strong tool in the field of gastroenterology. Participants reported positive outcomes following engagement with this technology. However, future research is needed to identify appropriate treatment forms and factors affecting engagement and success.					
	Evaluating the impact of electronic technologies on the management of patients with IBD (58)	The review examined 17 studies in order to evaluate the impact of eHealth technologies on the management of patients with IBD. Results of interest were clinical outcomes and patient-reported outcome measures, effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and feasibility of self-management, and recommendations for future design and use. Electronic interventions were found to have an impact on disease activity, but the authors note that disease sub-type and severity were important factors on activity. The majority of studies focused on patients with ulcerative colitis, which may have had an impact on clinical outcomes as Crohn's disease is more complex. The review found that patient-reported quality of life improved after the use of web-based interventions. The extent of the impact depends on a number of factors, potentially including culture, disease sub-type, and baseline quality of life among patients. The eHealth interventions examined by the studies in this review were found to sometimes increase healthcare costs. Future research must encapsulate both the direct and indirect costs of this form of care. Electronic interventions often rely on self-reported data, therefore feasibility and accuracy are sometimes called into question. However, the review found that while patient knowledge is an important factor in accurate reporting, the strength of qualitative data may overcome these limitations.	2015	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/17	0/17	17/17

Element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with	Proportion of studies that
					Canada	prioritized groups	IBD
		interventions should be designed with this in mind. The authors of this review suggest the development and application of a standardized framework for the design of eHealth solutions. Future research should focus on understanding limitations to design and developing a framework that integrates a range of factors, while keeping patients engaged and involved.					
Create clinics to address multiple chronic conditions	Evaluating patient- initiated clinics in secondary care (72)	The review examined seven studies in order to evaluate patient- initiated clinics compared to traditional consultant-led clinics in secondary care. Studies examined included patients with breast cancer, IBD, or rheumatoid arthritis. Patient reported outcomes of interest included psychological outcomes, health-related quality of life and satisfaction. Three studies examined patients with IBD. Among these studies, there were mixed outcomes of psychological measures and health-related quality of life. In one study, people engaged with a patient-initiated clinic had improved mental health scores at 12 months versus the control group. However, another study demonstrated better scores among the control group at 24 months. Similar conflicting results over time were found for the general health perception of patients with IBD. One study found that patients in the intervention group changed the way they thought about and managed their disease and their healthcare professional. Among all disease groups, the best outcomes were seen when patients had positive relationships with their consultant. Positive relationships yielded higher satisfaction. Patient-initiated clinics are effective when patients are able to identify a clinical problem, thus they are appropriate in the current disease under study. Future research should explore other disease models and address the safety, effectiveness and efficiency of the implementation of these clinics.	2013	9/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	0/7	3/7





>> Contact us 1280 Main St. West, MML-417 Hamilton, ON, Canada L85 4L6 +1.905.525.9140 x 22121 forum@mcmaster.ca >> Find and follow us mcmasterforum.org healthsystemsevidence.org mcmasteroptimalaging.org FORUM+



O () O mcmasterforum